

TURKISH REPUBLIC OF NORTH CYPRUS NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

CC2D1A AS A NOVEL CILIOPATHY GENE

GÜLTEN TUNCEL POSTGRADUATE THESIS IN MOLECULAR MEDICINE

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOLOGY

SUPERVISOR Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez Ergören

2021-NICOSIA



TURKISH REPUBLIC OF NORTH CYPRUS NEAR EAST UNIVERSITY INSTITUTE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

CC2D1A AS A NOVEL CILIOPATHY GENE

GÜLTEN TUNCEL POSTGRADUATE THESIS IN MOLECULAR MEDICINE

DEPARTMENT OF MEDICAL BIOLOGY

SUPERVISOR Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez Ergören

2021-NICOSIA

The Directorate of Institute of Graduate Studies,

This study has been accepted by the Thesis Committee in Molecular Medicine Program as a PhD Thesis.

Thesis committee:

Advisor: Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez ERGÖREN, Near East University Prof. Dr. Gamze MOCAN, Near East University Prof. Dr. Munis DÜNDAR, Erciyes University Assoc. Prof. Dr. Şehime Gülsün TEMEL, Bursa Uludağ University Assoc. Prof. Dr. Umut FAHRİOĞLU, Near East University

Members:

Prof. Dr. Gamze MOCAN, Near East University
Prof. Dr. Munis DÜNDAR, Erciyes University
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez ERGÖREN, Near East University
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Şehime Gülsün TEMEL, Bursa Uludağ University
Assoc. Prof. Dr. Umut FAHRİOĞLU, Near East University

Approval:

According to the relevant articles of the Near East University Postgraduate study Education and Examination Regulations, this thesis has been approved by the above mentioned members of the thesis committee and the decision of the Board of Directors of the Institute of Graduate Studies.

> Professor K. Hüsnü Can BAŞER, PhD Director of Institute of Graduate Studies

STATEMENT (DECLARATION)

Hereby I declare that this thesis study is my own study, I had no unethical behavior in all stages from planning of the thesis until writing thereof, I obtained all the information in this thesis in academic and ethical rules, I provided reference to all of the information and comments which could not be obtained by this thesis study and took these references into the reference list and had no behaviour of breeching patent rights and copyright infringement during the study and writing of this thesis.

Gülten Tuncel

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Çerkez Ergören for his endless patience, great support and immense knowledge. He always guided and encouraged me to remain on the right path and do the right thing even when the road got tough. Without his persistent help, the goal of this project would not have been realized.

I would like to thank my thesis comittee members; Prof. Dr. Gamze Mocan, Prof. Dr. Munis Dündar, Assoc. Prof. Dr. Şehime Gülsün Temel and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Umut Fahrioğlu. I also wish to thank all the people, especially Dr. Engin Deniz, Irmak Sakın and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Oktay Kaplan, whose assistance was a milestone in the completion of this project.

I am grateful to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Pinar Tulay for her motivational support and for sharing her knowledge whenever I needed. I also want to thank Ayşegül, Nevrez and members of the NEU Hospital Medical Genetics lab for their support and warm friendship. Narden and Seray, you are amazing friends, many thanks for walking beside me all the time. I would like to thank Meryem for making me smile even in most desperate days of our three-year-journey together. This thesis was produced during the Covid-19 pandemic. Nihan, Hazel and all team members- it was and is a great pleasure working with you. Sleepless nights of the Covid-19 lab will always be remembered. I am always particularly thankful to my spiritual sister, Mine Hüryaşar, who helps me stay sane through my life since -I do not remember when- times. It is a great pleasure to grow old with you.

I must express my profound gratitude to my husband Mustafa Dereboylu, who has always been by my side to motivate and support me through all ups and downs of these four years. Finally, I wish to offer my deepest thanks to my parents Şaziye Tuncel and Şeref Tuncel for making me who I am today and for making all these possible with their endless love, trust, support and patience by all means. I also warmly appreciate the support and understanding of my extended family.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| APPROVAL | i |
|---|------|
| STATEMENT (DECLARATION) | ii |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | iii |
| TABLE OF CONTENTS | iv |
| LIST OF FIGURES | viii |
| ABBREVIATIONS | ix |
| SUMMARY | 1 |
| ÖZET | 2 |
| CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION | 3 |
| 1.1. Introduction | 3 |
| 1.2. General Information | 4 |
| 1.2.1. Cilia | 4 |
| 1.2.1.1. Cilia Function | 6 |
| 1.2.1.1.1. Motile Cilia Function | 6 |
| 1.2.1.1.2. Non-motile Cilia Function | 7 |
| 1.2.1.2. Cilia Structure | |
| 1.2.1.3. Ciliary Assembly and Intraflagellar Transport (IFT) | 10 |
| 1.2.2. Ciliopathies | 12 |
| 1.2.2.1. Joubert Syndrome: a ciliopathy disease | 14 |
| 1.2.2.2. Abelson Helper Integration Site 1 (AHII) | 15 |
| 1.2.3. Coiled-Coil and C2 Domain Containing Protein 1A (CC2D1A) | 16 |
| 1.2.4. Use of Model Organisms in Cilia Research | 17 |
| 1.2.4.1. Caenorhabditis Elegans | |
| 1.2.4.2. Danio Rerio | |

| 1.2.4.3. Xenopus Tropicalis | 22 |
|--|---------|
| 1.2.5. Genome Editing Technologies | 24 |
| 1.2.5.1. Zinc-Finger Nucleases (ZFNs) | 25 |
| 1.2.5.2. Transcription-activator-like (TAL) Effector Nucleases (TALENs) | 26 |
| 1.2.5.3. Cluster of Regularly Interspaced Palindromic Repeats- CRISPR Asso | ociated |
| Protein 9 (CRISPR-Cas9) System | 26 |
| 1.2.6. Work in this thesis | 31 |
| CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS | 32 |
| 2.1. Materials | 32 |
| 2.1.1. Suppliers | 32 |
| 2.1.2. Chemical Reagents | 32 |
| 2.1.2.1. Enzymes | 32 |
| 2.1.2.2. Molecular Weight Markers and Loading Dyes | 32 |
| 2.1.2.3. Oligonucleotides | 32 |
| 2.1.2.4. Vectors | 32 |
| 2.1.2.5. Isolation Kits | 33 |
| 2.1.3. Devices | 33 |
| 2.1.4. Standard solutions | 33 |
| 2.1.5. Preparation of <i>C.elegans</i> Lysis Buffer | 33 |
| 2.1.6. Preparation of <i>C.elegans</i> Recovery Buffer | 33 |
| 2.1.7. Human subjects | 33 |
| 2.2. Methods | 34 |
| 2.2.1. Human Genomic DNA Extraction | 34 |
| 2.2.2. Next Generation Sequencing | 34 |
| 2.2.3. Sanger Sequencing | 34 |

| 2.2.4. Generation of CC2D1A Knockout Caenorhabditis elegans (C.elegans) |
|--|
| Model |
| 2.2.4.1. <i>C.elegans</i> Primer and sgRNA Design |
| 2.2.4.2. Primer Optimization |
| 2.2.4.3. Gel Electrophoresis |
| 2.2.4.4. sgRNA Annealing |
| 2.2.4.5. Cloning sgRNAs into Expression Vector |
| 2.2.4.6. Transformation of Competent <i>E.coli</i> with sgRNA Vectors |
| 2.2.4.7. Plasmid Isolation |
| 2.2.4.8. Microinjection of <i>C.elegans</i> |
| 2.2.4.9. Confirmation Genome Editing in <i>C.elegans</i> |
| 2.2.5. Generation of Transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans |
| 2.2.6. Generation of CC2D1A Knockout Xenopus tropicalis (X.tropicalis) Model |
| |
| 2.2.7. Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT) |
| 2.2.8. Staining of Epidermal Cilia of <i>Xenopus tropicalis</i> |
| 2.2.9. Visualization of Craniofacial Features of <i>Xenopus tropicalis</i> |
| CHAPTER THREE: CC2D1A IS A CANDIDATE GENE FOR CILIOPATHY |
| PHENOTYPE IN HUMANS 42 |
| 3.1. Introduction |
| 3.2. General, Neurological and Neuropsychiatric Examination of Patient 1 42 |
| 3.3. Molecular Genetic Analysis of Patient 1 |
| 3.4. Neurological Examination of Patients 2 and 3 |
| 3.5. Molecular Genetic Analysis of Patients 2 and 3 45 |
| 3.6. Discussion |
| CHAPTER FOUR: USING CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS AS A MODEL TO |
| STUDY <i>CC2D1A</i> |

| 4.1. Introduction | . 48 |
|--|----------|
| 4.2. Optimization of Control Primers | . 48 |
| 4.3. Confirmation of sgRNA Ligation Into the pRB1017 sgRNA Backbone Vec49 | ctor |
| 4.4. Confirmation of Transformation of E.coli with Ligated Vectors | . 50 |
| 4.5. Confirmation of CC2D1A Knockout in C.elegans | . 51 |
| 4.6. Localization of CC2D1A in <i>C.elegans</i> | . 52 |
| 4.7. Discussion | . 54 |
| CHAPTER FIVE: USING <i>XENOPUS TROPICALIS</i> AS A MODEL ORGANI | SM 55 |
| 5.1. Introduction | . 55 |
| 5.2. Epidermal Cilia Flow is Disturbed in CC2D1A Knockout X.tropicalis | . 55 |
| 5.3. Loss of Epidermal Cilia is Observed in CC2D1A Knockout X.tropicalis | . 58 |
| 5.4. Knockout of <i>CC2D1A</i> Results in Craniofacial Malformations in <i>X.tropic</i>60 | alis |
| 5.5. Discussion | . 60 |
| CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION | . 62 |
| 6.1. Detection of <i>CC2D1A</i> Gene Variants in Patients with Ciliopathy Phenot62 | ype |
| 6.2. Functional and Expressional Analysis of CC2D1A in C.elegans | . 65 |
| 6.3. Functional Analysis of CC2D1A in Xenopus Model | . 67 |
| 6.4. Conclusion | . 68 |
| 6.5. Future Remarks | . 69 |
| REFERENCES | . 71 |
| ENCLOSURES | . 97 |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1.1. General structure of cilia |
|---|
| Figure 1.2. Intraflagellar transport (IFT) mechanism in the cilium |
| Figure 1.3. C.elegans life-cycle |
| Figure 1.4. Life-cycle of Xenopus tropicalis |
| Figure 1.5. Schematic representation of the CRISPR-Cas system as an adaptive |
| immune response present in archaea and bacteria cells |
| Figure 1.6. Delivery mechanisms of CRISPR-Cas9 components into cells30 |
| Figure 2.1. Target regions of control primers and sgRNAs designed for Y37H9A.3.1 |
| gene |
| Figure 3. 1. Familial and clinical information of patient 143 |
| Figure 3. 2. Molecular genetic analysis results of patient 1 |
| Figure 3. 3. Familial information of patients 2 and 345 |
| Figure 3. 4. Molecular genetic analysis results of patients 2 and 346 |
| Figure 4. 1. Optimization of control primers targeting the Y37H9A3.1 gene in |
| C.elegans |
| Figure 4. 2. Confirmation of sgRNA insertion into the backbone vector |
| Figure 4. 3. Confirmation of E.coli transformation with sgRNA-ligated vectors51 |
| Figure 4. 4. Confirmation of CC2D1A knock-out and selection of mutant C.elegans. |
| |
| Figure 4. 5. CC2D1A protein expression in C.elegans cilia |
| Figure 5. 1. Optical coherence tomography images and results representing epidermal |
| cilia flow in control and CC2D1A knockout X.tropicalis |
| Figure 5. 2. Immunohistochemical staining results of epidermal cilia in control and |
| CC2D1A knockout X.tropicalis |
| Figure 5. 3. Craniofacial analysis of control and CC2D1A knockout X.tropicalis 60 |

ABBREVIATIONS

- 5-HTR1A: 5-hydroxytriptamine receptor 1A
- AAV: Adeno-associated viruses
- AHI1: Abelson helper integration site 1
- ALMS: Alström syndrome
- ARF: ADP-ribosylation factor
- ATP: Adenosine tri-phosphate
- AuNP: Gold nanoparticles
- BBS: Bardet-Biedl syndrome
- C.elegans: Caenorhabditis elegans
- C2: protein kinase C conserved region 2
- cAMP: Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- Cas: CRISPR associated protein
- CC2D1A: Coiled-coil and C2 domain-containing protein 1A
- CRISPR: Cluster of regularly interspaced palindromic repeats
- dbSNP: Database of single nucleotide variants
- DSB: Double strand breaks
- EEG: Electroencephalogram
- EV: Empty vector
- ExAC: Exome Aggregation Consortium database
- GFP: Green fluorescent protein
- HGMD: Human Gene Mutation Professional Database
- HR: Homologous recombination
- IDA: Inner dynein arms
- IFT: Intraflagellar transport
- IKK: IkB kinase complex
- Indel: Insertion-deletion
- JS: Joubert Syndrome
- LB: Luria Bertani medium
- LNP: Lipid nanoparticles
- MAF: Minor allele frequency

MKS: Meckel-Gruber syndrome

MRI: Magnetic resonance imaging

NF-\kappa B: nuclear factor κ enhancer binding protein

NHEJ: Non-homologous end-joining

NMR: Non-syndromic mental retardation

NTC: No template control

NVD: Normal vaginal delivery

OCD: Obsessive-compulsive disorder

ODA: Outer dynein arms

OMIM: Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man

PAM: Protoscpacer adjacent motif

PCD: Primary ciliary dyskinesia

PKA: protein kinase A

PKD: Polycystic kidney disease

RP: Retinitis pigmentosa

sgRNA: single guide RNA

SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism

TAL: Transcription-activator-like

TALENs: TAL-effector nucleases

TBE: Tris-borate/EDTA

UIC: Uninjected control

UV: Ultraviolet

WES: Whole exome sequencing

WISC: Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children

X.leavis: Xenopus laevis

X.tropicalis: Xenopus tropicalis

ZFNs: Zinc finger nucleases

SUMMARY

Cilia are protrusions on cell surface, present on almost all cell types in higher eukaryotic organisms and are involved in several processes including neuronal development, cell motility, establishment of left-right asymmetry during embryonal development, clearance of airways and as receptors in internal organs like the kidneys and pancreas. Defects in cilia structure or function result in a group of complex disorders, called ciliopathies. As cilia are present in a variety of cell types and are involved in various cellular processes, ciliopathies can manifest in multiple organ systems with varying severity. Currently there are multiple established ciliopathy genes and developing molecular techniques accelerated the process of identification of new genes. Here we present CC2D1A as a novel ciliopathy gene, which was first identified in three patients with ciliopathy-related phenotypes. Gene knock-out with CRISPR-Cas9 system in two model systems, Caenorhabditis elegans and Xenopus tropicalis revealed the involvement of CC2D1A in cilia. CC2D1A knock-out was lethal in *C.elegans*, whereas mutant *X.tropicalis* represented disturbed cilia-driven fluid flow over their ciliary membranes, reduced numbers of cilia and disturbed craniofacial structures. Additionally, CC2D1A was shown to be localized in the dendrite and cilia region of *C.elegans* tail. These results suggests that the protein is involved in ciliogenesis and pathogenic variations directly contribute to ciliopathy-related phenotypes.

ÖZET

Silyalar, ökaryotik canlıların neredeyse tüm hücre tiplerinde bulunan, hücre zarının küçük çıkıntıları şeklinde görünen yapılardır. Silyalar nöronal gelişim, hücre hareketliliği, embriyonal gelişim sırasında sol-sağ organ asimetrisinin oluşması, hava yollarının temizlenmesi ve böbrekler ve pankreas gibi iç organlarda da reseptör görevi yaparak çeşitli süreçlerde ve görevlerde rol alırlar. Silyanın yapısal veya işlevsel kusurları, siliyopati adı verilen bir grup kompleks genetik hastalığa neden olur. Silvalar çeşitli hücre tiplerinde bulunduğundan ve çeşitli hücresel süreçlerde ver aldığından, siliyopatiler çoklu organ sistemlerinde değişen şiddette fenotipik özelliklere yol açabilirler. Bugüne kadar literatüre bildirilen çok sayıda siliyopati geni vardır ve gelişen moleküler teknikler, yeni genlerin tanımlanması sürecini hızlandırmıştır. Bu çalışmada, siliyopati ile ilişkili fenotipleri olan üç hastada ilk kez tanımlanan yeni bir siliyopati geni olarak CC2D1A'yı sunuyoruz. Caenorhabditis elegans ve Xenopus tropicalis olmak üzere iki model sistemde CRISPR-Cas9 teknolojisi kullanılarak ile CC2D1A geninde oluşturulan fonksiyon kaybı mutasyonları genin silya ile ilişkili olduğunu ortaya koymuştur. Homozigot fonksiyon kaybı C.elegans modelinde öldürücü etkiye yol açmıştır. X.tropicalis modelinde ise CC2D1A fonksiyon kaybı silyalı deri üzerinde yönlü sıvı akışında bozulmaya, silya sayısında azalmaya ve kraniyofasiyal yapı bozukluklarına yol açmıştır. Ayrıca, CC2D1A proteinin *C.elegans* kuyruğunun dendrit ve silya bölgesinde localize olduğu gösterilmiştir. Bu sonuçlar, proteinin silya oluşumunda rol aldığını ve patojenik varyasyonlarının siliyopati ile ilgili fenotiplere doğrudan katkıda bulunduğunu göstermektedir.

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1. Introduction

Ciliopathies comprise a group of complex disorders associated with defective cilia. Cilia are protrusions on cell surface, present on almost all cell types in higher eukaryotic organisms and are involved in several processes including neuronal development, cell motility, establishment of left-right asymmetry during embryonal development, clearance of airways and as receptors in internal organs like the kidneys and pancreas. Therefore, ciliopathies can present themselves with a broad range of phenotypes (Mitchison and Valente 2017). Some disorders that are classified as ciliopathies include the Joubert syndrome, Bardet-Biedl syndrome, nephronophthisis and retinal-renal syndromes (Hildebrandt, Benzing, and Katsanis 2011). There are almost 200 established ciliopathy-related genes and studies in the field are revealing more to be involved in cilia structure or function and result in dysfunctional cilia when mutated.

In this study we introduce three patients that have clinical phenotypes associated with ciliopathy diseases and have homozygous variations in Coiled-coil and C2 domaincontaining protein 1A (CC2D1A) gene. One patient was diagnosed with Joubert syndrome co-occurring with severe obsessive-compulsive disorder. Whole exome sequencing revealed a likely-pathogenic homozygous variation in Abelson helper integration site 1 (AHI1) gene, which is an established Joubert syndrome gene, as well as another homozygous variation in CC2D1A gene. Other two patients are siblings, with no definitive clinical diagnosis but have ciliopathy phenotypes. Whole exome sequencing of the siblings revealed a homozygous mis-sense variation in CC2D1A gene. As all these patients have clinical symptoms related with ciliopathy disorders, we aimed to investigate whether CC2D1A gene has a role in ciliogenesis or cilia function. CC2D2A, which is a homolog of our gene of interest, is a known Joubert syndrome gene, however any relation of CC2D1A with cilia structure or function was not reported to the literature previously. For this purpose, we analyzed *CC2D1A* gene and protein expression as well as the cilia structure in patient and control samples. Two different animal model systems, *Caenorhabditis elegans (C.elegans)* and *Xenopus tropicalis (X.tropicalis)* were used to study protein localization and effect of *CC2D1A*-knockout on cilia structure and function as well as other phenotypic outcomes.

1.2. General Information

Ciliopathies are complex genetic disorders that result in structural or functional defects in cilia. Cilia are present in almost all cell types in eukaryotic multicellular organisms and are involved in many processes. These include cell motility, neuronal development, establishment of left-right asymmetry, as chemo- and osmo- receptors as well as mucociliary clearance and ocular functions (Mitchison and Valente 2017). Not surprisingly, dysfunctional cilia result in a diverse range of phenotypes affecting several organs of the human body.

There are several genes that have known functions in ciliogenesis and cilia function and more are being established. Depending on the function of the gene, type of variation, presence of additional variations and other factors patients can possess more severe or milder phenotypes. In general, the syndromes that are listed as ciliopathy syndromes are rare disorders, affecting few individuals but collectively there are millions of people being affected (Reiter and Leroux 2017). Therefore, identification of related genes and their functions are important to build a more comprehensive understanding of the disease and for development of potential therapies.

Development of next generation sequencing techniques and genome editing technologies greatly accelerated the identification of novel genes involved in rare and complex diseases and creation of model organisms to reveal their function *in vivo*.

1.2.1. Cilia

Cilia by definition are microscopic hair-like protuberances on the outside of eukaryotic cells. It is structurally preserved in unicellular organisms such as Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Tetrahymena thermophile and in multicellular organisms such as

Caenorhabditis elegans, Drosophila melanogaster and vertebrates. They are generally referred as the oldest known cell organelles as they were described back in 1675 by Antony Van Leeuwenhoch, who used a form of light microscope to observe a living protozoan in rain water. He described the organism as having a flat belly "provided with diverse incredibly thin feet, or little legs, which moved very nimbly" (Satir 1995). The term "cilia" originates from Latin and means eyelash. It is thought that it was first used by O. F. Muller back in 1786 (Muller 1786).

With the help of technical advances in microscopy, Jan Purkyne and his student Valentin studied amphibian ciliary movement and the cilia of the mammalian oviduct, further proposing formulations for the mechanism of ciliary motility in 1830s (Purkyne and Valentin 1835; Satir 1995). They thought that cilia were hollow structures, water was pushed through them and small muscles at their base were responsible for their movement. Later, in 1900s Dellinger proved that cilia were not hollow, they were formed by a number of filaments (Dellinger 1909). Sir James Gray contributed to the knowledge of motile cilia kinetics by publishing microphotographs of the phases of one ciliary beat and beating of cilia on sea urchin spermatozoan. He also formulated the stroboscopic technique to accurately measure ciliary beat frequency (Gray 1930, 1955). It was not until 1950s, when electron microscopy was invented, the structure and mechanism of motion of motile cilia were correctly described.

As cilia were initially defined under the light microscope by their motility, it was thought that this was their only function for many decades. However, identification of non-motile cilia with the use of advanced microscopy techniques permanently changed the knowledge (Kovalevskij 1867; Zimmermann 1898). Know we know that cilia are present on almost all cell types in the vertebrates and are found ubiquitously across species from ancient protozoa to nematodes possessing diverse critical functions (Mitchison and Valente 2017).

Upon identification of non-motile cilia, motile cilia were referred as 'secondary cilia' and non-motile cilia as 'primary cilia'. Despite sharing some common structural features, primary and secondary cilia essentially have differences in structure and function.

1.2.1.1. Cilia Function

1.2.1.1.1. Motile Cilia Function

Motile cilia, or secondary cilia, as its name suggests are motile and are responsible for locomotion of cells, creating directional fluid flow and removal of contaminants from the organs either by causing currents in the surrounding fluid or by providing propulsion. Orientation or the polarity of motile cilia is crucial for normal ciliary function (Marshall and Kintner 2008; Mitchell et al. 2007).

Some cells contain hundreds of motile cilia. Ciliates, which are single-celled protozoans, are a diverse group of multiciliated organisms that use the cilia for locomotion and were used as model organisms as their cilia are molecularly and structurally conserved in higher eukaryotes (Bayless, Navarro, and Winey 2019). In vertebrates, epithelial surfaces of the respiratory tract, middle ear, ventricles of the brain and Fallopian tubes in female reproductive tract are lined with motile cilia. In the respiratory tract motile cilia are involved in the removal of contaminants by creating directional outward flow in the surrounding fluid by coordinated beating (Vladar et al. 2015). In the brain ventricles, cerebrospinal fluid flow created by motile cilia is essential for normal spinal curvature and to provide directional cues for brain development (Grimes et al. 2016). Coordinated ciliary beat in the Fallopian tube plays critical role in tubal transport to support fertilization and early embryogenesis (Lyons, Saridogan, and Djahanbakhch 2006).

Conversely, some cells such as the ones in the embryonic node contain only one motile cilia, which generates unidirectional flow critical for the establishment of left-right patterning of the organs together with non-motile cilia (Yoshiba et al. 2012). Sperm cells, on the other hand, possesses a single flagellum that are specialized motile cilia, which enables them to move within the female reproductive tract (Lyons et al. 2006).

1.2.1.1.2. Non-motile Cilia Function

For decades, all attention was on motile cilia as their function was readily observable and non-motile cilia appeared nonfunctional. However, non-motile primary cilia are present ubiquitously on several cell types including kidney epithelial cells, neuronal cells, cone and rod cells in the vertebrate neural retina, cholangiocyte cells of liver and others. Further studies revealed that non-motile cilia act as a sensory organelle and is also involved in various developmental signaling pathways (Anderson et al. 2008; Mitchison and Valente 2017; Pazour and Witman 2003).

The first non-motile cilia to be observed by electron microscopy were the ones on neuronal cells during examinations of brain tissue sections. Almost all neurons display a primary cilium. It took decades to build an understanding of the relevance of this observation. Evidence suggests that primary cilia are involved in developing and adult neural tissue as a key signaling organelle (Del Cerro, Snider, and Lou Oster 1969; Lee and Gleeson 2010). It was revealed that they play great role in cerebellar development and hippocampal neurogenesis through the transduction of Sonic Hedgehog (Shh) signals, which is critical for the proliferation of cerebellar granule neurons and for regulation of progenitor cell maintenance in telencephalic stem cell niches (Corbit et al. 2005; Lee and Gleeson 2010; Pozniak and Pleasure 2006). Model organisms, especially *C.elegans* provided more comprehensive information about neuronal primary cilia. It is suggested that extracellular signals can regulate the architecture of neuronal cilia as it was observed that sensory signaling is required to maintain the size and shape of the specialized neuronal cilia in *C.elegans* olfactory epithelium (Mukhopadhyay et al. 2008).

In kidneys, non-motile cilia on epithelial cells are in direct contact with urine flow as they line the collecting ducts and the nephron tubule. They regulate certain intracellular pathways such as G-protein signaling, mTOR and Wnt signaling in response to changes in urine composition, osmolality and flow (Mitchison and Valente 2017). Similar to renal cilia, primary cilia protruding from the epithelial cells lining the biliary ducts in the liver act as chemo-, mechano- and osmoreceptors by sensing biliary lumen flow, osmolality and composition. Cilia transduce these signals through modulation of intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and calcium ions (Masyuk, Masyuk, and LaRusso 2008).

In the pancreas, primary cilia are present on different cell types including the ductal cells, α -, β - and δ - cells in the islets of Langerhans. Like in the liver and kidney, non-motile cilia in the pancreatic ductal cells act as sensors and regulate certain signaling pathways. Also, they are involved in key pathways such as Shh, Wnt and Notch during pancreas development (Lodh, O'Hare, and Zaghloul 2014).

Rod and cone photoreceptors of the vertebrate retina, namely the rod and cone cells, depend on the outer segment that is a highly specialized ciliary organelle. It is capable of detecting light through a complex structure of regularly stacked photopigment-filled membranous disks oriented along the axis of the incoming light, which are either fully internalized or in continuity with the plasma membrane. (Mitchison and Valente 2017).

1.2.1.2. Cilia Structure

To fully understand the function of cilia, its structure and involved proteins should be known. However, despite their ubiquity and importance, their protein composition is not yet fully identified.

Cilia protrude outward from the basal body on the cell surface and consists mainly of three different structural regions: axoneme, basal body, and the transition zone (Figure 1.a). During ciliogenesis, a mother centriole migrates to the cell's apical surface and matures to form the basal body, which generates the axoneme composed of a microtubule cytoskeleton and associated proteins. Even though the basal body consists of a mother centriole and a daughter centriole, nucleation of microtubules is initiated from the mother centriole (Vieira et al. 2006). It was reported that the presence of centrioles correlates specifically with the presence of cilia rather than centrosomes, which suggest that the ancestral role of centrioles was directing cilia formation (Breslow and Holland 2019).

The transition zone, which can also be named as the ciliary gate, is located at the most proximal region of cilia and it controls the entry of proteins into and out of cilia.

The ciliary membrane, which surrounds the cilia, is continuous with the apical membrane of the cell but have a different composition hosting different proteins such as the ion channel TRPV4, polycystin 1 and 2 that are implicated in the polycystic kidney disease (Pazour and Witman 2003; Vieira et al. 2006).

Motile and non-motile cilia have structural differences that enable them to adapt their function. Mobile cilia and flagella, consist of nine outer doublet microtubules positioned along the membrane and a single pair located at the center (9+2 pattern) (Blacque, Cevik, and Kaplan 2008; Pazour and Witman 2003). The major components that attach to the secondary cilia microtubules include the outer and inner dynein arms (ODA and IDA), the radial spokes, central-pair projections and other protein complexes required for motility. Dyneins are the molecular motors that hydrolyze adenosine tri-phosphate (ATP) and lead the doublet microtubules to slide over each other asynchronously, yielding a helical beat. The radial spokes are involved in regulation of ciliary beat by interacting with the central pair microtubules and dyneins (Satir and Christensen 2007). So, the coordination mechanism between the central pair-radial spoke- dynein arms are of great importance for controlled cilial beating.

Axoneme of non-motile primary cilia consist of only nine pairs of microtubules surrounded by the membrane, lacking the central pair (9 + 0 pattern) (Figure 1.b). As non-motile cilia do not assemble the central microtubule complex, dyneins and related proteins, they are unable to beat just like the mutants of motile cilia (Satir and Christensen 2007).





a. Both motile and non-motile cilia are composed of three main parts as the axoneme, the transition zone and the basal body. Axoneme, which is composed of the microtubule cytoskeleton is surrounded by the ciliary membrane. The basal body is a special form of a centriole that consists of a daughter centrile and a mother centriole, which gives rise to the formation of axonemal microtubules.e **b.** Cross section of motile and non-motile cilia are represented. Both are composed of nine pairs of doublet microtubules surrounded by the ciliary membrane. Motile cilia additionally have a central pair, dynein arms and radial spokes that allow them to move. (Figure adapted from (Lai and Jiang 2020))

1.2.1.3. Ciliary Assembly and Intraflagellar Transport (IFT)

As cilia and flagella are not able to synthesize their own proteins, they rely on constant delivery of axonemal precursors from their site of synthesis to the axonemal assembly site at the ciliary tip. This is a process mediated by intraflagellar transport (IFT) (Pedersen and Rosenbaum 2008).

Delivery of ciliary cargo occurs sequentially. It involves sorting and packaging of cargo into carrier vesicles, docking and fusion of these vesicles with ciliary base and assembly of cilia from the base towards the tip. Ciliary targeting and assembly is

mediated by the action of multiple multiprotein complexes including IFT and the BBSome complex that are modulated by ADP-ribosylation factor (ARF) and Rab family proteins (Nachury et al. 2007; Waters and Beales 2011).

Cilia are assembled from the ciliary base by IFT, which utilizes two microtubule associated motor proteins: dynein and kinesins. Membrane receptors and structural components of the axoneme are transported in anterograde manner by the action of kinesin-2 motors along the outer doublet microtubules. The precursors and cargo are unloaded for assembly and use at the ciliary tip. Upon unloading, the empty IFT particles bind to recycled proteins and axonemal turn over products down the axoneme towards the cell body by the action of dynein-2 motor proteins retrogradely (Figure 2) (Pedersen and Rosenbaum 2008; Waters and Beales 2011).



Figure 1.2. Intraflagellar transport (IFT) mechanism in the cilium. (ref)

Figure represents the anterograde and retrograde intraflagellar transport (IFT) mechanisms within the cilium. Cargo molecules are transported from the cytoplasm/ciliary base towards the ciliary tip by anterograde IFT. Used proteins and

cargo molecules are then loaded onto empty IFT complex and transported down towards the cytoplasm by retrograde IFT mechanism. Dynein and kinesins are the molecular motor proteins that are involved in the movement of molecules through the axoneme. (Figure adapted from (Lai and Jiang 2020))

In this context, it is important to note that proteins involved in IFT and related structures are crucial for ciliary assembly as well as cilia-mediated signaling.

1.2.2. Ciliopathies

Ciliopathies comprise a group of rare genetic disorders associated with ciliary dysfunction. Currently, 35 ciliopathy diseases are reported in the literature that include Bardet-Biedl syndrome (BBS), Joubert Syndrome (JS), autosomal recessive and dominant polycystic kidney diseases, Meckel-Gruber syndrome (MKS), Alström syndrome (ALMS). The number is increasing with over 190 established and over 240 candidate ciliopathy-associated genes and related syndromes (Reiter and Leroux 2017). Even though each of these are rare disorders, the number of affected individuals is high.

As cilia are present on almost all cell types, ciliopathies generally show a wide range of phenotypes in multiple organ systems including polydactyly, diabetes, retinal degeneration, mental retardation, hepatobiliary problems, obesity, deafness, laterality defects, skeletal dysplasia, all with different severities, demonstrating the complexity of ciliopathy diseases (Van der Heiden et al. 2011; Reiter and Leroux 2017). So rather than being distinct clinical entities, ciliopathies form a spectrum of disorders with genotypic and phenotypic overlaps.

In the last two decades, discovery of rare variants and molecular mechanisms in disease resulted in an increase in the number of researches in cilia and related diseases as well. Investigating ciliopathies enabled us to further characterize the molecules and mechanisms involved in ciliogenesis, the way transition zone functions in ciliary gating and how intraflagellar transport regulates cargo trafficking and signaling (Reiter and Leroux 2017).

An important characteristic feature of ciliopathy disorders is that the type of the two recessive mutations can determine the severity of the disease phenotype. In this context, protein truncating mutations are classified as 'strong' mutations, whereas missense mutations are 'weak'. In the presence of two strong mutations such as mutations in *CEP290 (NPHP6)* cause a severe, early-onset developmental disorder with a broad-range of organ involvement as in Meckel's syndrome, whereas in the presence of at least one weak mutation causes a milder, late-onset degenerative disorder with less organ involvement, such as a mild form of JS (Hildebrandt et al. 2011). However, other factors such as the involvement of mutations in other modifier genes or the combined effect of two or more recessive genes with heterozygous mutations (true oligogenicity) are also important in determination of genotype-phenotype correlations of ciliopathy phenotype. For example, the presence of heterozygous mutations in *NPHP8* or *NPHP6* in patients with homozygous *NPHP1* deletion results in additional eye or cerebellar involvement in phenotype (Hildebrandt et al. 2011; Leitch et al. 2008).

As mentioned, there are currently over 190 known ciliopathy associated genes and more are being listed. For example the BBSome complex genes (*BBS1, BBS2, BBS4, BBS5, BBS7, BBS8, BBS9*) and BBS chaperone complex genes (*BBS6, BBS10, BBS12*), which are involved in regulation of cilia composition and in intraflagellar trafficking, are common genes that are mutated in BBS (Manara et al. 2019). *PRPF31, PRPF3, PRPF8, RPE65, PDE6A/B* and *RP25* are commonly mutated in autosomal dominant or autosomal recessive retinitis pigmentosa (RP) (Parmeggiani et al. 2011). The two major genes associated with primary ciliary dyskinesia (PCD) are *DNAI1* and *DNAH5*, encoding proteins of outer dynein arm in cilia structure account for over 30% of all PCD cases. Additionally, *HYDIN, RSPH4A* and *RSPH9* in radial spokes, *CCDC151* and *CCDC114* in outer arm docking complex and *CCDC39* and *CCDC40* in dynein-regulatory complex are also involved in PCD (Horani et al. 2016). *MYO7A, CDH23, USH1C, USH2A* and *PCDH15* are common genes associated with Usher syndrome (Jaijo et al. 2007; Tazetdinov, Dzehemileva, and Khusnutdinova 2008).

Some genes, such as *CEP290, KIF7, NPHP1, TMEM67, IFT172* and *WDR19* are involved in more than one ciliopathy disorder phenotypes (Wheway et al. 2019).

1.2.2.1. Joubert Syndrome: a ciliopathy disease

Joubert syndrome (JS) (OMIM #213300) is a rare neurodevelopmental genetic disorder, inherited in an autosomal recessive or X-linked manner. Estimated prevalence of the disease is 1:100,000 live births worldwide (Romani, Micalizzi, and Valente 2013). The disease manifest itself by a malformed brain stem causing the characteristic molar-tooth sign in brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). As this region of the brain controls breathing and swallowing reflexes, patients suffer from abnormal breathing patterns, sleep apnea and swallowing difficulties starting from early childhood. An absence or underdevelopment of the cerebellar vermis is also observed in JS. This part of the brain is responsible for balance and coordination so the patients generally suffer from ataxia and oculomotor apraxia. JS is also characterized by other ciliopathy phenotypes such as ocular findings, polydactyly, muscular hypotonia, hepatic fibrosis and renal cysts (Bachmann-Gagescu et al. 2015; Romani et al. 2013).

Currently, genetic cause of around 60% of JS cases are established and research in the area is ongoing to determine other causative genes of this syndrome. The 35 genes to be responsible for JS include *CXORF5, TTC21B, KIF7, TCTN1, TMEM237, CEP41, TMEM138, C5ORF42, TCTN3, AHI1, TMEM216, NPHP1, CEP290, TMEM67, RPGR1P1L, ARL13B, CC2D2A, CEP104, KIAA0556, B9D1, MKS1, TMEM107, ARMC9, ZNF423, TMEM231, CSPP1, PDE6D, KIAA0586 and TCTN2 (Bachmann-Gagescu et al. 2015; Cantagrel et al. 2008; Chaki et al. 2012; Dafinger et al. 2011; Davis et al. 2017; Edvardson et al. 2010; Garcia-Gonzalo et al. 2011; Lambacher et al. 2016; J. E. Lee et al. 2012; J. H. Lee et al. 2012; Noor et al. 2008; Otto et al. 2009; Parisi et al. 2004; Romani et al. 2014, 2013; Sanders et al. 2015; Sang et al. 2011; Srour et al. 2012, 2015; Thomas et al. 2012; Tuz et al. 2014; Valente, Silhavy, et al. 2006; Van De Weghe et al. 2017). All these genes encode for proteins involved in cilia structure or function. Therefore, pathogenic variations result in*

structural and functional abnormalities in the cilia or related structures, classifying JS as a ciliopathy disorder.

As mentioned earlier, the strength of mutations, presence of mutations in modifier genes and heterozygous mutations in different genes can determine the severity of disease phenotype in ciliopathies including the JS (Hildebrandt et al. 2011).

1.2.2.2. Abelson Helper Integration Site 1 (AHII)

AHI1 (Abelson helper integration site 1), also known as Jouberin, ORF1, JBTS3 and dJ71N10.1, is encoded by the *AHI1* gene on chromosome 6 (6q23.3), composed of 35 exons. The protein contains a coiled-coil domain, an SH3 domain and seven WD40 repeats and is described as a putative cytoplasmic adaptor protein (Jiang et al. 2002). *AHI1* is referred as the first gene that was associated with Joubert syndrome as nonsense or frame-shift mutations of the gene was shown to result in Joubert syndrome phenotype, which is a ciliopathy disorder (Dixon-Salazar et al. 2004; Ferland et al. 2004). Currently there are over 15 *AHI1* variations, which are associated with Joubert syndrome to the literature (Valente, Brancati, et al. 2006).

Studies revealed that *AHI1* is highly expressed in the brain and the kidneys at the protein level and is primarily localized at the mother centriole and eventually at the basal body of the primary cilium (Eley et al. 2008; Ferland et al. 2004; Hsiao et al. 2009). AHI1 functions in vesicle trafficking and is required for ciliogenesis as it interacts with RAB8A, which is a small GTPase critical for polarized membrane trafficking in the cilia (Hsiao et al. 2009). It is also involved in the canonical Wnt-beta catenin signaling pathway as its loss results in a decrease in endogenous Wnt activity, which was shown to be responsible for cystogenesis in kidneys (Lancaster et al. 2009).

More recent studies suggest that pathogenic variations on the gene may also be associated with increased susceptibility to autism and schizophrenia that are two common disorders showing depression symptoms (Xu et al. 2010).

1.2.3. Coiled-Coil and C2 Domain Containing Protein 1A (CC2D1A)

CC2D1A (Coiled-coil and C2 domain-containing protein 1A), which is also named as Freud-1, Aki1 or MRT3, is encoded by the *CC2D1A* gene on chromosome 19 (19p13.12) and contains 31 exons (Basel-Vanagaite et al. 2006). The protein is composed of 951 amino acids and is 104.1kDa. CC2D1A has four Drosophila melanogaster 14 (DM14) motifs at the N-terminus a protein kinase C conserved region 2 (C2) domain at the C-terminus, and a predicted helix-loop-helix DNA binding domain (Ou et al. 2003).

CC2D1A was reported to be localized in the nucleus and has DNA binding properties. It regulates the expression of 5-hydroxytriptamine (serotonin) receptor 1A (*5-HTR1A*) in neuronal cells by binding to a conserved 14 base pair repressor element in those cells and acts as a transcriptional repressor (Ou et al. 2003). It can also act as a transcriptional activator for nuclear factor κ enhancer binding protein (*NF-\kappa B*) through the I κ B kinase complex (IKK) pathway (Zhao, Li, and Chen 2010). These DNA binding and transcriptional regulator activities of CC2D1A can be inhibited by the action of calcium within the cells (Basel-Vanagaite et al. 2006). Additionally, CC2D1A can also be found in the cytoplasm where it acts as a scaffold protein in PI3K/PDK1/AKT pathway and in the centrosomes where it regulates spindle pole localization of the cohesin subunit SCC1/RAD21, thereby mediating centriole cohesion during mitosis (Nakamura et al. 2008; Nakamura, Arai, and Fujita 2009).

Studies in *Droshophila Melanogaster* indicated that the ortholog of *CC2D1A* (Drosophila *Lpd*) is involved in the endosomal trafficking of Notch signaling pathway and mutant models have abnormal neuronal development and function (Gallagher and Knoblich 2006). Notch signaling was shown to be a key pathway for cilia length control in deltaD zebrafish mutants (Lopes et al. 2010). However, there is no information about the role of CC2D1A in the Notch signal pathway and cilia length control that may explain the possible involvement of CC2D1A in cilia.

In the last decade, use of mouse models revealed more information about the function of the CC2D1A protein. There were no major morphological changes in respiratory

organs of the KO mouse, but *CC2D1A-KO* neurons had alterations in evoked neurotransmitter release events during the maturation of synapses. Also, it is thought that *CC2D1A* is involved in the regulation of endocytic rate of synaptic vesicles (Zhao et al. 2011). Another mouse model that produces a truncated form of CC2D1A lacking the C2 domain and three of the four DM14 domains, showed that the protein is important in differentiation of neurons by transducing signals to the cyclic adenosine 3',5' – monophosphate (cAMP)-protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (Al-Tawashi et al. 2012). A recent study indicated that conditional deletion of *CC2D1A* from excitatory neurons of male mouse forebrain reduces hippocampal synaptic plasticity and impair cognitive function through hyperactivation of Rac1, which may implicate Rac1 inhibitors in the treatment of intellectual disability caused by *CC2D1A* mutations (Yang et al. 2019).

In humans, a mutation resulting in a genomic deletion of 3589 nucleotides in the *CC2D1A* gene was found to create a truncated protein, which probably present a loss of function effect and cause autosomal recessive non-syndromic mental retardation [30]. In another study, haplotypes of *CC2D1A* and *CC2D2A* were found to be associated with mental retardation in a Han Chinese population (Shi et al. 2012). However, cellular and molecular mechanisms by which the *CC2D1A* is involved in these neuropsyhiatric-related behaviors are not yet clear.

1.2.4. Use of Model Organisms in Cilia Research

People including physicians, scientists and even philosophers that lived before the common era have always been interested in revealing the mechanisms of development, especially embryology, as well as the disorders they observed in humans and other animals. Members of the Hippocratic school, the Greek scientists Aristotle, investor and artist Leonardo da Vinci, German zoologist and evolutionist Ernst Haeckel are among the first people who contributed to the understanding of these subjects by their drawings of animal and human dissections and observations (Eisen 2019).

Since then, the use of a variety of animal model organisms to reveal principles underlying development and certain disorders has been an important concept in science and medicine. Model organisms are chosen based on their experimental tractability for addressing a particular research question.

1.2.4.1. Caenorhabditis Elegans

Caenorhabditis elegans (C.elegans) are small, free-living soil nematodes (roundworms) that are widely used as a powerful model for biomedical research for over 50 years. Even though they are recognized as soil nematodes, they can be isolated easily from rotting vegetable matter and recovered by placing onto a standard nematode culture plate that are agar plates containing a lawn of E.coli (Barrière and Félix 2014). *C.elegans* are easily observable under dissecting microscopes for handling and confocal or compound microscopes allow observation at much higher resolution for various experiments (Corsi, Wightman, and Chalfie 2015). *C.elegans* has two sexual forms. First is the self-fertilizing hermaphrodites (XX) and the second is males (XO). Males frequently arise through mating of hermaphrodites with males (50%) or quite infrequently by spontaneous non-disjunction in the hermaphrodite germ line (0.1%) (Corsi et al. 2015). Self-fertilization of the homozygous hermaphrodite worms allow generation of genetically identical progeny, whereas mating with males facilitate passing mutations between strains as well as the isolation and maintenance of mutant strains.

Around 60-80% of all human genes and 40% of disease-associated human genes have orthologs in the *C.elegans* genome. These include most of the genes involved in signaling pathways in various cellular processes (Culetto and Sattelle 2000; Kaletta and Hengartner 2006). Also at least 38% of the *C.elegans* protein-coding genes have predicted orthologs in the human genome (Shaye and Greenwald 2011). Thus, novel discoveries and designed studies in *C.elegans* have relevance to the study of human health and disease.

They are useful models to study several cellular processes including cell signaling, cell polarity, development and neuroscience. There are several key features that make the *C.elegans* an outstanding experimental system. They are very easy and cheap to culture in the laboratory as they are fed by *E.coli* on agar plates. Although they are

multicellular eukaryotic organisms, their size is small - where larvae are around 0.25 mm and adults are 1mm long, they are easily grown on small agar plates and assays can be performed even in 96-well plates very easily. They have very short generation time (3 days at 25° C) as the self-fertilizing hermaphrodites enable the large-scale production of several million worms per day. Their life-cycle is composed of embryonic stage, four larval stages (L1-4) and adulthood (**Figure 3**). When not in use, the worms can be frozen and kept for several years. Also, at L1 larval stage, *C.elegans* can be starved, which triggers a developmental arrest and can be kept on those agar plates for weeks. When needed, a piece of agar from the starvation plate is cut and transferred to a new plate with fresh *E.coli* allowing them to develop into further stages.



Figure 1.3. C.elegans life-cycle.

C.elegans life-cycle at 22^oC is represented in this figure. The life-cycle is comprised of the embryonic stage, four larval stages and the adulthood. Where fertilization is 0

min, first cleavage after fertilization happens in 40 mins. The eggs are laid outside of the body at 150 mins post-fertilization until the end of gastrula stage. Right after hatching, at L1 stage, the worms can enter developmental arrest if no food is available. Between L1 and L2 stages, environmental conditions such as crowding, starvation and high temperatures can initiate the formation of a morphologically distinct, arrested state called dauer larva. Dauer larva can survive 4-8 times the normal life-span in these conditions. When the environment becomes favorable again, they molt to the L4 stage. At the end of each larval stage, which is marked with a molt, a stage-specific cuticle is formed and the old one is shed. (Figure is adapted from the WormAtlas (Altun and Hall 2021))

They are transparent, which enable us to study several cellular processes to be studied in the living animal by fluorescent labeling. It is one of the first organisms that have complete genomic sequence studied and is easy to genetically manipulate. As they have genetically determined number of cells and developmental fate of every single somatic cell has been mapped, so changes due to manipulation can easily be tracked. Also, a comprehensive connectivity map of their neuronal structure is available (Hall and Altun 2007; Kaletta and Hengartner 2006; Towlson et al. 2013)

C.elegans are one of the most widely used model organisms to investigate cilia structure, function and related proteins as the nematode cilia are evolutionarily well conserved through mammals. Both hermaphrodites and males present 60 ciliated neuronal cells in common, whereas males have additional ciliated cells, most of them implicated in the regulation of mating behaviors. All ciliated cells in both sexes are non-motile, postmitotic sensory neurons, located at the dendritic endings of these neurons at the head (amphid) or tail (phasmid) parts of the worm (Nechipurenko and Sengupta 2017).

For example, the functions of many genes that are evolutionarily conserved in higher organisms such as *DYF-1*, *DYF-2*, *DYF-13* and *IFTA-1* which are involved in intraflaggelar transport, were first described in *C.elegans* models. In subsequent studies, it has been shown that these genes are involved in the formation of cilia in

humans and other organisms (Blacque et al. 2005, 2006; Efimenko et al. 2006; Ou et al. 2005). Likewise, *C.elegans* is widely used to investigate the cilia functions of genes that are thought to be related to cilia and are first seen in humans or another organism.

1.2.4.2. Danio Rerio

Danio rerio, or with its more common name the zebrafish, is a small (2.5-4 cm long), freshwater fish originating from South Asia. Zebrafish were introduced as a model organism back in 1960s by George Streisinger and Franklin Stahl, two molecular biology pioneers, to study the genetic basis of vertebrate neural development (Eisen 2019). Since then, zebrafish are being used as a powerful model system based on several advantages of the organism.

Zebrafish are not seasonal breeders, unlike many fish, therefore embryos can be obtained anytime of the year. Besides their generation time is short. A single fish produces hundreds of eggs at once, so it is cheap to obtain. Fertilization and embryo development occurs in the water column and they are transparent, enabling scientists to manipulate and observe the cells throughout their developmental period by appropriate microscopic methods- because of this most zebrafish research is performed in these stages (Eisen 2019; Malicki et al. 2011).

The zebrafish genome-sequencing project was initiated in 2001 and a comprehensive sequencing and annotation of its genome was submitted in 2013. Around 70% of human genes have at least one orthologue in the zebrafish genome and 69% of zebrafish genes have at least one human orthologue. When potential disease-related human genes in Online Mendelian Inheritance in Man (OMIM) database was compared, 82% was shown to have a zebrafish orthologue (Howe et al. 2013). So, it is a good vertebrate model to study human genetic disorders.

Cilia are abundant and can easily be visualized in different organs of zebrafish embryos and larvae, such as the neurons of sensory systems, the pronephric duct and the neural tube. The most common technique to visualize zebrafish cilia is labeling of the ciliary axoneme by microtubule antibodies, mostly acetylated alpha tubulin. Alternatively, gamma tubulins can be labelled to detect basal bodies and locate cilia. Also high-speed videomicroscopy allow analysis of cilia motility by measuring cilia beat frequency, amplitude etc (Malicki et al. 2011).

Studies in zebrafish has revealed that *ARL13B*, which is mutated in Joubert syndrome, is localized in the cilium and is involved in cilia formation in multiple organs. Knockdown of the gene result in multiple cilia-associated phenotypes (Duldulao, Lee, and Sun 2009). Genetic screens to identify genes possibly associated with specific human genetic diseases are being performed in zebrafish genome. An example is polycystic kidney disease (PKD). 12 genes were identified in an insertional mutagenesis screen in zebrafish of which can be candidates for novel human PKD genes (Sun et al. 2004).

1.2.4.3. Xenopus Tropicalis

Xenopus tropicalis are small amphibians originating from West Africa and are closely related to *Xenopus laevis (X.leavis)*, which is a South African species and another model organism that has been in use before *Xenopus tropicalis*.

Both *Xenopus laevis* and *tropicalis* were being used as powerful models for vertebrate developmental mechanisms since 1990s. However, they were not considered as bona fide models to study genetics and human diseases until their genome were fully sequenced in 2010 (Hellsten et al. 2010). It was confirmed that *Xenopus tropicalis* are diploid organisms and have genome organization much like mammals, compared to *Xenopus laevis* (Grainger 2012). With the advent of genome editing technologies, *Xenopus tropicalis* are being used to test candidate genes and alleles for human genetic diseases.

In addition to being the only amphibian with a diploid genome, *Xenopus tropicalis* have other advantages as a model system as well. They have shorter generation time than *Xenopus laevis* and are easy to maintain as they are raised at 24-26^oC, whereas *Xenopus laevis* require 18^oC water temperature (Figure 4). Almost 90% of human disease genes have homologs in *Xenopus* genome and sequence conservation is high.

This is an important prerequisite for any predictive animal model. Another important feature of *Xenopus* is the ease of gaining access to eggs and embryos. Females lay thousands of eggs each time, which are fertilized either by natural mating or artificially by sperm taken from male testes. Egg laying is inducible by hormone priming. The eggs are also large in size, allowing intracellular microinjections into zygote or into blastomeres of early developmental stages. A unique and very important feature of Xenopus embryos is the possibility of one-sided injections. By this method only one side of the embryo is manipulated and the contralateral side serve as control. This eliminates the risk of variable wild-type gene expression and presence of variable background mutations in different embryos (Blum and Ott 2019).



Figure 1.4. Life-cycle of Xenopus tropicalis.

Figure represents the full life-cycle of *X.tropicalis*. Frog embryos develop externally. Within 36 hours post-fertilization, a tadpole with fully functional set of organs is formed. *Xenopus tropicalis* reach adult stage in 4 months, which is much shorter compared to *Xenopus leavis* that require 12 months. (Figure adapted from the Xenbase (Karimi et al. 2018))

Xenopus are used to monitor the effect of human gene orthologs and model human diseases in several organs. For example, knock-down of the *Xenopus* ortholog of

homeodomain transcription factor *IRX5* lead to disruption of migration of progenitor cells in gonads and branchial arches, reproducing the human phenotype where mutations in this gene impair germ cell migration and craniofacial development (Blum and Ott 2019; Bonnard et al. 2012). Another example is the mutations in *PYCR1*, which is involved in proline metabolism, associated with autosomal recessive cutis laxa syndrome. It is characterized by lax and wrinkled skin in humans. Knockdown of *Xenopus* ortholog of the gene, resulted in wrinkles and hypoplasia of the tadpole skin (Blum and Ott 2019; Reversade et al. 2009)

Besides, ciliopathies are particularly well qualified group of diseases to be studied in *Xenopus* model system. The larval skin of *Xenopus* is covered with the epithelium that harbors multiciliated cells (Dubaissi and Papalopulu 2011). These can easily be visualized either by staining ciliary axonemes by histochemical stains or by high-speed videography.

The larvae move in a hovering motion across the agar plate when their cilia are fully functional and beat normally. However, any defect in their cilia at that stage can be observed by measuring the speed of their hovering movement. Knock-down of the *dnah9*, which is an axonemal dynein critically required for ciliary movement is an example for this type of defect. As it is possible to create one-sided mutations in *Xenopus*, these observations and comparisons can be done in one larvae at the same time (Vick et al. 2009). This enables us to obtain preliminary observations at a reduced time and cost. Left-right asymmetry defects and hydrocephalus are among other defects that are readily studied in the *Xenopus* model system (Blum et al. 2009; Hagenlocher et al. 2013).

1.2.5. Genome Editing Technologies

Genome editing, by definition, is the technologies that allow scientists to make specific changes or manipulations in the genomic sequence of eukaryotic cells, basically by creating double strand breaks (DSB). After the formation of a DSB, the cell repairs the break to maintain genomic integrity either by non-homologous end-joining (NHEJ) or by homologous recombination (HR). NHEJ mostly results in disruption of the
sequence and gene knockouts at the target sequences, whereas HR can be used to introduce new sequences into the target site. However, the efficiency of HR in higher eukaryotic cells is very low (Capecchi 2005; Kim 2016).

The earliest form of gene targeting is the use of restriction enzymes. In 1988, Rudin and Haber reported that use of HO endonuclease for site-specific DSB boosted HR efficiency in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* genome (Rudin and Haber 1988). A similar effect by the use of I-*SceI* restriction enzyme to induce DSB in a targeted manner in the mouse genome was demonstrated in 1994 by the Jasin group. They integrated I-*SceI* cleavage sites into the mouse genome in a two tandem reporter gene region. Both HR by the use of a donor DNA as a template and non-homologous mechanisms were used by transfected cells to repair the breaks (Rouet, Smih, and Jasin 1994). These two studies initiated the progress in the field of genome editing technologies.

Even though the meganucleases were very useful to cleave chromosomal DNA in a site-specific manner due to their long DNA recognition sequences, the main drawback was that they were not reprogrammable (Epinat et al. 2003). Therefore, further studies were focused on developing programmable reagents to target any region on the genome.

1.2.5.1. Zinc-Finger Nucleases (ZFNs)

In 1996, the Chandrasegaran team reported that they successfully induced site-specific cleavage of target DNA *in vitro* by fusing *FokI* restriction enzyme's nuclease domain to zinc finger proteins (Kim, Cha, and Chandrasegaran 1996). Zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs) consists of at least three zinc finger domains, where a single domain interacts with a 3 base pair sequence. This enables recognition of target DNA in a modular fashion and create custom-designed ZFNs to make sequence-specific DNA binding-proteins (Kim 2016).

Genome editing in animals was first achieved by the injection of ZFNs into *Drosophila* embryos in 2002 and others followed in various other animals including *C.elegans* and zebrafish, plants as well as human cells (Bibikova et al. 2002; Doyon et al. 2008; Hye

et al. 2009; Kim 2016; Lloyd et al. 2005; Morton et al. 2006). Even though ZFNs were more efficient in creating targeted and programmable genome editing compared to meganucleases, target specificities still remained as a challenge. Additionally, many ZFN applications were cytotoxic, likely as a result of non-specific (off-target) site cleavages (Hye et al. 2009).

Another breakthrough in the field came in 2009 with the identification of transcriptionactivator-like (TAL) effector nucleases (TALENs) (Boch et al. 2009; Moscou and Bogdanove 2009).

1.2.5.2. Transcription-activator-like (TAL) Effector Nucleases (TALENs)

TALENs were identified in a bacterial plant pathogen, the *Xanthomonas*, in 2009. Like ZFNs, TALENs also use the *FokI* nuclease to create DSBs. The difference is that each repeat domain in TALENs recognize a single base. Therefore, four different repeat domains can be mixed/matched and used to create new DNA-binding domains that can be fused to the *FokI*.

TALEN-encoding plasmids are being developed by several groups, bringing TALENs forward in genome editing technology. In 2011, TALENs was used for genome editing in human cells. Compared to ZFNs, TALENs showed less cytotoxicity in human cells (Miller et al. 2011).

However, the dominance of TALENs technology in the field ended shortly after, in 2012, with the introduction of cluster of regularly interspaced palindromic repeats (CRISPR)- CRISPR associated protein 9 (Cas9) as a new tool for genome editing.

1.2.5.3. Cluster of Regularly Interspaced Palindromic Repeats- CRISPR Associated Protein 9 (CRISPR-Cas9) System

CRISPR-Cas system is based on the natural adaptive defense system of bacteria and archaea that protect them against invading viruses and plasmids (Jinek et al. 2012).

In general terms; when a virus infects a host, its genome is cleaved into short fragments, which are then integrated into the CRISPR locus of the host genome as spacer sequences between identical repeats by the action of Cas1 and Cas2 (adaptation stage). In case of a repeated infection with the same virus or plasmid, the repeat-spacer element is transcribed to form pre-crRNA and then processed to form a mature guide crRNA. Maturation is performed either by endoribonuclease complexes in type I and III or by an alternative mechanism that involves bacterial RNase III directed by a transencoded small RNA with around 24 nucleotide complementarity to the repeat regions of crRNA, named as the tracrRNA, in type II (Deltcheva et al. 2011). Upon formation of the mature crRNA, either one (Cas9 in type I) or several (types I, III) of Cas proteins bind crRNA and are directed to pair with complementary protospacer sequences of invading plasmid or viral genome (expression stage). The CRISPR-Cas complex in types I and II can target genomic sequences that contain the tri-nucleotide protoscpacer adjacent motif (PAM). Target recognition is followed by creation of DSBs by Cas enzymes and silencing of the foreign sequences (interference stage) (Figure 5) (Bhaya, Davison, and Barrangou 2011; Makarova and Koonin 2015; Terns and Terns 2011; Wiedenheft, Sternberg, and Doudna 2012).





CRISPR-Cas9 system consists of three stages as the adaptation, expression and interference stages. Foreign DNA fragments are integrated into the host genome during an infection inside the CRISPR locus as spacer sequences. The locus is transcribed during the repeated infections and the spacers are used by the Cas enzymes to recognize and interfere with the invading agents' DNA and create DSBs. There are three types (type I, II and III) of CRISPR-Cas systems that use different Cas enzymes and have slightly different action mechanisms as represented in the figure. (Figure taken from (Makarova et al. 2011))

There are three types of CRISPR-Cas systems (Type I, II and III) and diverse Cas proteins that are involved in different steps of the processes (Figure 5) (Makarova et al. 2011). Jennifer Doudna and Emmanuelle Charpentier re-engineered the Cas9 nuclease, which functions in type II, to a two-component system by merging the tracrRNA and crRNA into a 'single guide RNA' or 'sgRNA'. Custom designed sgRNAs guide the Cas9 endonuclease to the target sequence and initiate DSB

formation. The system was then used to induce site-specific genome modifications in human cells by different groups simultaneously (Cho et al. 2013; Cong et al. 2013; Jinek et al. 2013; Mali et al. 2013). As mentioned, when a DSB is introduced to the sequence by the nuclease, the cell mostly repairs the break by NHEJ. NHEJ generally result in insertion-deletion (indel) mutations that results in a frameshift and loss of function in the targeted gene. Alternatively, the cell can also use HR to repair the break, which in this case can be a sequence introduced with the system, can be used introduce the desired genome alteration (He et al. 2016; Zhang 2021).

When compared to ZFNs and TALENs, an important advantage of CRISPR-Cas9 system is that it does not require protein engineering. Customized CRISPR-Cas9 systems are readily constructed by changing guide RNA sequences (Kim 2016). This greatly reduced the cost and time required for genome editing, increasing its feasibility when compared to previous technologies, creating a giant leap in the field of genome editing. This way, the use of model organisms to unravel novel gene functions, creating genetically engineered plants and studies in personalized medicine and gene therapy fields became both cost and labor effective.

On the other hand, as *FokI* is a dimer and cleave the DNA only when dimerized, but Cas9 functions as a monomer. Therefore, site specificity of *FokI* can be higher. Also, the fact that Cas9 is derived from prokaryotic cells and has no known function in higher eukaryotes raised the concerns about reduced site specificity and possible off-target cleavages. Larger genome size also increases the probability of off-targets. As anticipated, several groups reported off-target effects of Cas9 in human genome (Cradick et al. 2013; Fu et al. 2013; Kim 2016; Pattanayak et al. 2013). Both the gRNAs and Cas9 has been modified to overcome this problem. For example, Cas9 enzyme was fused with the *FokI* domain of TALE or zinc finger proteins to take advantage of their dimerization property to increase the specificity of genome editing (Bolukbasi et al. 2015; Guilinger, Thompson, and Liu 2014). Later in 2015, another Cas enzyme called Cas12a or Cpf1 was identified in prokaryotic cells. Cpf1 creates staggered cuts on DNA as opposed to the blunt cuts created by Cas9, it is guided by a

single sgRNA- lacking tracrRNA and utilizes a T-rich PAM sequence (Zetsche et al. 2015).

Delivery of Cas enzyme and sgRNA oligos into cells is an important consideration and can be achieved by different methods. Cas9 enzyme can be delivered into the cell either in plasmid DNA, mRNA or protein forms. As transcription and translation steps from plasmid DNA will take time, mRNA and protein options enable faster editing. However, it is cost effective and also enables sustained expression of the protein. mRNA delivery allows faster application but the fact that RNAs are unstable and can easily be degraded before being translated, reduces efficiency of editing. Delivery of Cas9 in protein format, on the other hand, enables immediate gene editing but is the most transient and least cost effective format (Yip 2020). Cas9, regardless of the form, and the sgRNA expression vectors are delivered into the cell by different methods (Figure 6). These include microinjection, electroporation, transfection by chemicals or by using extracellular vesicles such as viral vectors (Glass et al. 2018; Yip 2020).



Figure 1.6. Delivery mechanisms of CRISPR-Cas9 components into cells. (ref) Different methods by which the CRISPR-Cas9 components can be delivered into the cells are represented in this figure. The Cas9 enzyme can either be delivered in the form of plasmid DNA, mRNA or protein, whereas the sgRNAs are inserted into sgRNA expression vectors. These can be inserted into the cells either by physical

methods such as microinjection and electroporation or by transfection with extracellular particles such as gold nanoparticles (AuNP) and lipid nanoparticles (LNP) using chemical reagents. Use of viral vectors, mostly adeno-associated viruses (AAV) is another option. (Figure taken from (Glass et al. 2018))

Currently, gene editing with CRISPR-Cas system is being used effectively in research, generation of animal models to study and treat human genetic diseases, agriculture, food and farming industry effectively, as well as in therapy mostly as clinical trials (Chemello, Bassel-Duby, and Olson 2020; Cruz and Freedman 2018; Yan et al. 2020; Zhang 2021).

1.2.6. Work in this thesis

In this thesis we aimed to investigate the involvement of *CC2D1A* gene in cilia and cilia-related phenotypes. Two different model systems were used to create gene-specific knock-out animals and analyse the effects on cilia function and structure. Also, protein localization was determined using a transgenic model.

In the first chapter, general information about the concepts discussed in the thesis were explained. Brief information about the techniques used is also given in the first chapter. In the second chapter, materials used throughout the project and all techniques are explained in detail. In the third chapter, detection of the *CC2D1A* gene as a candidate ciliopathy gene was explained, providing detailed results obtained from clinical and genetic analysis of three patients. In chapter four, experimental results obtained from *CC2D1A* knock-out and transgenic expression of fluorescently labelled protein in *Caenorhabditis elegans* (*C.elegans*) is explained. Chapter five explains functional and structural data obtained from *CC2D1A* knock-out in Xenopus tropicalis (*X.tropicalis*) model. In chapter six, all results are discussed, data is explained and compared to previous studies in the field.

CHAPTER TWO: MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Materials

2.1.1. Suppliers

Thermo Scientific (Pittsburg, USA), Qiagen (Hilden, Germany), Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK), Zeiss (Oberkochen, Germany) Bio-Rad (California, USA), Leica (Wetzlar, Germany), Addgene (Massachusetts, USA), TransGen Biotech (Beijing, China), Macrogen (Seoul, South Korea), Intron (Seoul, South Korea), Biological Industries (Beit HaEmek, Israel), Narishige Scientific Instrument Lab. (Tokyo, Japan), Illumina (San Diego, USA), Beckman Coulter (California, USA), Invitrogen (California, USA).

2.1.2. Chemical Reagents

2.1.2.1. Enzymes

T4 ligase enzyme and *BsaI* restriction enzyme were supplied by Thermo Scientific and Protease K was obtained from Intron.

2.1.2.2. Molecular Weight Markers and Loading Dyes

100bp Plus II DNA Ladder obtained from TransGen Biotech and DNA Gel Loading Dye (6X) from Thermo Scientific were used in agarose gel electrophoresis experiments.

2.1.2.3. Oligonucleotides

All sgRNAs and control primers were supplied by Macrogen, Inc.

2.1.2.4. Vectors

pRB1017 sgRNA backbone vector, pDD162 Cas9 expressing vector and pRF4 plasmid containing the rol-6 (sulO06) gene 'roller' marker was supplied by Addgene.

2.1.2.5. Isolation Kits

Plasmid isolation was performed with EasyPure Plasmid MiniPrep Kit supplied by TransGen Biotech and genomic DNA isolation from whole blood was done with QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit from Qiagen.

2.1.3. Devices

Stemi 508 by Zeiss and DM6 B by Leica were the microscopes that were used. Bio-Rad ChemiDocTM XRS+ gel imaging system and Image lab software were used for agarose gel visualization. IM-400 Electric Microinjector from Narishige was used for microinjections. Illumina MiSeq sequencer and Beckman Coulter CEQ8800 sequencer were used for DNA sequencing.

2.1.4. Standard solutions

Phosphate buffered saline (PBS) for *X.tropicalis* embryo storage and 10X Trisborate/EDTA (TBE) buffer and ethidium bromide solution for agarose gel electrophoresis were prepared as described in (Anon 2000).

2.1.5. Preparation of C.elegans Lysis Buffer

Lysis mix contains 0.7 μ l 500mM KCl, 0.7 μ l 100mM Tris Base, 0.7 μ l 25mM MgCl₂, 0.07 μ l 1% gelatin, 0.7 μ l 4.5% tween, 4.13 μ l ddH₂O and 1.4 μ l protease K.

2.1.6. Preparation of C.elegans Recovery Buffer

Recovery buffer was prepared with 5mm HEPES pH 7.2, 3 mM CaCl₂, 3 mM MgCl₂, 66 mM NaCl, 2.4 mM KCl, 4% Glucose (w/v).

2.1.7. Human subjects

Three human subjects from two families participated in this study. Patient 1 was a 17year-old male, who was admitted to the Near East University Medical Faculty Hospital Neurology outpatient clinic. His major complaints were imbalance and eye movement abnormalities, ongoing since birth. Patient 2 was a 10-year-old female that was admitted to Uludag University Hospital Department of Pediatric Psychiatry as she had speech delay at the age of 4. Patient 3 is her sibling, 6-year-old male, who also present autistic features.

Informed consent forms were signed by both parents.

2.2. Methods

2.2.1. Human Genomic DNA Extraction

Genomic DNA was isolated from peripheral blood samples drawn into EDTAcontaining tubes. Isolation was performed with QIAamp DNA Blood Mini Kit (Qiagen, 51104).

2.2.2. Next Generation Sequencing

Whole exome sequencing (WES) was performed with DNA isolated from peripheral blood sample taken from the patients. In-solution target enrichment was performed according to the manufacturer's protocols before Illumina TruSightOne Sequencing Panel and MiSeq sequencer (Illumina, San Diego, CA) were used for the targeted resequencing of the DNA sample.

Sequence alignment to the reference genome, variant calling, annotation and filtering to remove benign single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) with allele frequencies \leq 0.03 was performed using an in-house pipeline. Rare homozygous variants with minor allele frequency (MAF) values lower than <1% in the 1000 genomes phase III, single nucleotide variants (dbSNP) and Exome Aggregation Consortium (ExAC) databases were screened. Human Gene Mutation Professional Database (HGMD) was then used to screen previously reported clinical significances of the detected variants.

2.2.3. Sanger Sequencing

Upon selection of candidate variations, they were confirmed by PCR coupled with direct sequencing of target regions using a CEQ8800 Sequencer (Beckman Coulter) according to the manufacturer's protocols.

2.2.4. Generation of CC2D1A Knockout Caenorhabditis elegans (C.elegans) Model

2.2.4.1. C.elegans Primer and sgRNA Design

For the generation of the knockout model, sgRNAs were designed to target the *C.elegans* homolog of *CC2D1A*, the *Y37H9A.3.1*. *Y37H9A.3.1* is composed of 17,531 base pairs and have a total of 11 exons. Primers to check deletions and determine genotypes of the organisms after CRISPR-Cas9 experiment were also designed. Locations of the sgRNAs and control primers are represented in **Figure 9**. Expected band sizes for wild type and all possible mutants with the designed primer pair were: 4219bp wild type, 2812bp deletion with sgRNAI and II, 1751bp deletion with sgRNAI and III, 344bp deletion with sgRNAI and III.



Figure 2.1. Target regions of control primers and sgRNAs designed for Y37H9A.3.1 gene.

Represents the structure of exons (rectangle boxes) and introns (straight lines) of *Y37H9A.3.1* gene. sgRNAI was designed to target exon 2, sgRNAII was designed to target exon 3 and sgRNAIII targets exon 6. Primer F represents the forward control primer and primer R represents control reverse primer.

2.2.4.2. Primer Optimization

Primers were optimized by gradient PCR using PCR Master Mix (2X) by Thermo ScientificTM (Thermo ScientificTM, K0171) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Gradient PCR is set up using the following parameters: 95^oC for 3 minutes, 30 cycles of 95^oC for 30 seconds, 66-69^oC for 45 seconds and 72^oC for 4:40 minutes followed by 72^oC for 5 minutes. Wild-type *C.elegans* DNA, which was isolated before, is used as template. Expected band size was 4219bp.

2.2.4.3. Gel Electrophoresis

Agarose gels with 1% concentration were prepared by standard 1X TBE buffer and 1% UltraPureTM agarose by Thermo Scientific (Thermo Scientific, 16500100). Ethidium bromide was added to the buffer in 1/100 volume ratio. PCR products were loaded with 1/10 volume of DNA gel loading dye (Thermo Scientific, R0611) and were run on a horizontal submarine format with 1X TBE buffer. 100bp Plus II DNA ladder (TransGen Biotech, BM311-01) was used to compare and detect the PCR product sizes.

PCR products from gradient PCR were run on 1% agarose gel at 120V for 40 minutes and visualized under ultraviolet (UV) light by Bio-Rad ChemiDoc[™] XRS+ gel imaging system.

2.2.4.4. sgRNA Annealing

sgRNAs were obtained as forward and reverse oligos. Annealing of the oligos was performed by preparing annealing mixture for all three sgRNAs separately (1µl forward oligo + 1µl reverse oligo + 2µl annealing buffer + 6µl ddH₂O) and using the following parameters in the PCR machine: 95^oC for 5 minutes then decrease to 4^oC slowly (0.01^oC/sec).

2.2.4.5. Cloning sgRNAs into Expression Vector

Annealed sgRNAs were cloned into pRB1017 sgRNA backbone vector (Addgene plasmid #59936, (Arribere et al. 2014)) by preparing the cloning mixture for each sgRNA separately (1µg PBR1017 vector + 1:1 annealed oligos + 2µl T4 ligase buffer + 0.5µl T4 ligase enzyme (Thermo Scientific, EL0011) + 0.5µl *BsaI* restriction enzyme (Thermo Scientific, ER0291) + ddH₂O up to 20µl) and using the following parameters in the PCR machine: 37^{0} C for 60 minutes followed by 50^{0} C for 5 minutes followed by 65^{0} C for 20 minutes.

PCR was set up to confirm the insertion of sgRNAs. For each sgRNA, a forward primer designed previously from inside the pBR1017 vector and the sgRNA's own

reverse oligo were used. PCR was set up using the following parameters: 95°C for 3 minutes, 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds and 72°C for 0:40 seconds followed by 72°C for 5 minutes. PCR products were run at 120V for 30 minutes and visualized under ultraviolet (UV) light by Bio-Rad ChemiDocTM XRS+ gel imaging system as described in section 2.2.7.3. Bands approximately 580bp long were expected to confirm the presence of sgRNA inside the vector/plasmid and no bands in control (empty vector, EV). After confirmation of cloning, transformation was performed.

2.2.4.6. Transformation of Competent E.coli with sgRNA Vectors

Previously prepared competent *E.coli* cells were used for transformation. For each sgRNA, all cloning product and 100µl of competent *E.coli* from glycerol stock was mixed in a microtube. A control tube with competent cells but no cloning product was also included as a control. They were incubated on ice for 30 minutes and heat-shocked for 2 minutes at 42° C. After the heat shock, mixture was put back on ice immediately. 900µl Luria Bertani medium (LB broth) was added into the tube and incubated at 37° C for 30 minutes. Then the transformation product was centrifuged for 1 minute at 8000rpm, 900µl of the supernatant was discarded and the cells were resuspended in the remaining 100µl supernatant. Then all of the ligation product was plated on LB agar plates containing ampicillin for selection. Plates were incubated at 37° C overnight.

Ten colonies from each plate (sgRNAI, sgRNAII, sgRNAIII) was taken by the help of a pipette tip and diluted in 20µl ddH₂O in a microtube. PCR was set up with forward primer designed previously from inside the pBR1017 vector and the sgRNA's own reverse oligo using the following parameters in the PCR machine: 95°C for 3 minutes, 30 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 60°C for 45 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds followed by 72°C for 5 minutes.

PCR products were run on 1% agarose gel at 120V for 30 minutes and visualized under ultraviolet (UV) light by Bio-Rad ChemiDocTM XRS+ gel imaging system as described in section 2.2.7.3.. An 'only vector' tube was included as a control. Expected

band size was approximately 580bp for colonies containing the cloned vector. Selected colonies were put in 10ml LB broth in a falcon tube and incubated at 37^oC, shaking at 250rpm in an incubator overnight.

2.2.4.7. Plasmid Isolation

750μl of overnight grown bacteria is mixed with 750μl 50% glycerol and stored in -80°C for further use. Rest of overnight grown bacteria were centrifuged at 8000rpm for 10 minutes. Supernatant was removed. EasyPure[®] Plasmid MiniPrep Kit (TransGen Biotech Co., EM101) is used for plasmid isolation according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmid concentrations were measured using NanoDropTM 2000/2000c spectrophotometer (Thermo ScientificTM, ND-2000). Results were; 910ng/ µl for sgRNAI, 662.7ng/ µl for sgRNAII and 910ng/ µl for sgRNAIII.

2.2.4.8. Microinjection of C. elegans

Microinjection is performed in the gonad area of hermaphrodite *C.elegans* at L4 developmental stage (1-day adult) as this is the stage that their germ cells start to develop and is prone to genetic manipulation. The worms must be stable during injection. 'Agar pads' were prepared and used for this purpose.: 2% agarose gel prepared with ddH₂O was dropped between two cover slides and separated when dried. Then halocarbon oil (Sigma Aldrich, H8898) was dropped all over the agarose drop. After the agar pads were prepared, 2-3 *C.elegans* were placed onto the slide and waited until they sink into the halocarbon oil and become stable.

A mix containing 15ng pDD162 (Peft-3::Cas9+Empty sgRNA) vector (Addgene plasmid #47549, (Dickinson et al. 2013)), 50ng of each pRB1017 Y37H9A.3.1-targeted sgRNA vectors and 25ng of pRF4 plasmid (Mello et al. 1991) containing the rol-6 (sulO06) gene 'roller' marker was prepared and injected. The roller marker creates a rolling phenotype and is used as a selection marker to identify worms in F1 generation that were most likely have been genetically modified by the sgRNAs.

After injection, recovery buffer was dropped onto the halocarbon oil, enabling the worms to start moving. Recovery buffer was prepared with 5mm HEPES pH 7.2, 3 mM CaCl₂, 3 mM MgCl₂, 66 mM NaCl, 2.4 mM KCl, 4% Glucose (w/v). Then each worm was placed into a separate plate (nematode growth medium spread with OP50 strain of *E.coli*). They were then incubated at 25° C for 3-4 days. After incubation, 6 F1 worms that showed the roller phenotype were selected and each one was placed into a separate plate. They were then incubated at 25° C for 3-4 days, again, until they produce eggs.

2.2.4.9. Confirmation Genome Editing in C.elegans

Then the F1 *C.elegans* are lysed and PCR is performed with designed control primers to confirm knockout. For lysis each worm is placed in a PCR tube and 7µl of lysis mix is added. Lysis mix contains 0.7 µl 500mM KCl, 0.7 µl 100mM Tris Base, 0.7 µl 25mM MgCl₂, 0.07 µl 1% gelatin, 0.7 µl 4.5% tween, 4.13 µl ddH₂O and 1.4 µl protease K. Tubes are placed in -80°C for at least 30 minutes and then placed in the PCR machine for the lysis programme: 65° C for 60 minutes, and 95° C for 15 minutes. After lysis, these samples were used as template for PCR. PCR was set up with control primers using the following parameters: 95° C for 3 minutes, 30 cycles of 95° C for 30 seconds, 67° C for 45 seconds and 72° C for 4:40 minutes followed by 72° C for 5 minutes. PCR products are run on 1% agarose gel at 120V for 30 minutes and visualized under ultraviolet (UV) light by Bio-Rad ChemiDocTM XRS+ gel imaging system as described in section 2.2.7.3.

F1 that have heterozygous *CC2D1A* knockout genotype were detected and 12 clones from each plate were taken into separate plates and after 3-4 days lysis and control PCR were performed again, to detect homozygote mutants.

2.2.5. Generation of Transgenic Caenorhabditis elegans

C.elegans were used to study protein localization of CC2D1A as they are transparent and are easy to visualize. For this purpose, transgenic *C.elegans* were generated that express green florescent protein (GFP)-tagged CC2D1A protein with a cilia-specific promoter region. Cilia-specific *Arl-13* gene's promoter region, *Y37H9A.3* coding region and GFP with unc-54 3'UTR region (arl-13p::Y37H9A.3::GFP_UNC-543UTR) was cloned into the empty *C.elegans* expression vector pPD49_79 (Addgene plasmid #1447, deposited by Andrew Fire).

Upon delivery, plasmids were transfected into *E.coli*, multiplied and isolated as described in sections 2.4.3. and 2.4.4. above. 50ng vector was microinjected to the gonad area of hermaphrodite *C.elegans* as described in section 2.2.7.8. Another vector tagged with wrmScarlet (red), *CEP-41* gene (CEP-41::wrmScarlet) was also injected to the worms as a control. *CEP-41* is a known ciliopathy gene, expressed in the cilia.

F1 progeny were then visualized under fluorescent microscope to monitor CC2D1A::GFP and CEP-41::wrmScarlet expression.

2.2.6. Generation of CC2D1A Knockout Xenopus tropicalis (X.tropicalis) Model

X.tropicalis studies are being performed in collaboration with Dr. Engin Deniz from Yale Medical School. *CC2D1A* gene in *X.tropicalis* is composed of 2922 nucleotides. To generate *CC2D1A* knockout model, sgRNAs targeting exon 1 of *CC2D1A* were designed and purchased ready as cloned in expression vectors. 1.6 ng Cas9 protein (PNA Bio, CP03) with 200pg or 400pg sgRNA expression vector and a fluorescent tracer, Alexa FlourTM 488 (Invitrogen) were injected post fertilization at one cell stage.

CC2D2A knockout was used as a positive control, as a known ciliopathy gene. An uninjected control group and an only Cas9 injected control group were included to demonstrate the results of any damage created by microinjections. Embryos were cultured in 3% Ficoll in 1/9 x MR with gentamicin until stage 30, post fertilization day 1 at 25 °C.

Genetically manipulated larvae were used for further analysis.

2.2.7. Optical Coherence Tomography (OCT)

Xenopus larvae possess cilia on the skin epidermal cells, which act as a mucociliary clearance agent as a defense against pathogens (Blum and Ott 2019). Similar to the cilia in human upper respiratory tract, they beat in a coordinated manner and move mucus from anterior to posterior (head to tail) (Brooks and Wallingford, 2014).

Post fertilization day 1 stage 28 *Xenopus* larvae raised at 25°C were used for optical coherence tomography to analyze the functional consequences of the flow created by the cilia, as described in (Date et al. 2019). *CC2D1A* knockout, *CC2D2A* knockout and control animals were used. Images were obtained with particle speed colorization and were processed in Fiji, Image J (Schindelin et al. 2012). *Xenopus* larvae were classified and quantified as normal, slow or absent due to flow created over epidermal cilia.

2.2.8. Staining of Epidermal Cilia of Xenopus tropicalis

CC2D1A knockout and control *Xenopus* embryos were fixed at stage 30 and were stored in phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Upon permeabilization of epithelial tissue in PBS with 0.1% Tween-20, they were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for staining. Actin filaments (F-actin) were stained with highly selective phalloidin (Alexa FluorTM 647 Phalloidin, Invitrogen A22287) and ciliary axonemes were stained with anti-acetylated α -tubulin antibody (Sigma-Aldrich, T6793).

Differences in cilia morphology were visualized by confocal fluorescent microscopy. Ciliated cell per area was counted to quantify the difference between control and F0 *CC2D1A* knockout organisms.

2.2.9. Visualization of Craniofacial Features of Xenopus tropicalis

Craniofacial features of the *CC2D1A* knockout and control *Xenopus* tadpoles were analyzed at stage 41-42 of embryo development under light microscope after immobilization by anesthesia.

CHAPTER THREE: *CC2D1A* IS A CANDIDATE GENE FOR CILIOPATHY PHENOTYPE IN HUMANS

3.1. Introduction

Investigation and molecular characterization of novel genetic variations that are detected in patients is important to reveal genotype-phenotype relations between those genes and diseases. Adding the results to the growing literature and publicly available universal databases further facilitates the diagnosis and development of personalized therapies, especially for individuals with rare genetic disorders.

Here we report three patients that have ciliopathy-related phenotypes and have homozygous variations in the *CC2D1A* gene. Importantly, two of these patients are siblings, with no definitive diagnosis and carry a novel nonsense variation in *CC2D1A*.

3.2. General, Neurological and Neuropsychiatric Examination of Patient 1

17-years-old patient was the first child born to non-consanguineous parents from Turkish Cypriot heritage and has a healthy sister. Family pedigree is presented in **Figure 7a.** Parents had no known neurological disorders. He was born by normal vaginal delivery (NVD) as 3250 grams.

Neurological examination revealed oculomotor apraxia and truncal ataxia as he was not able to initiate voluntary saccades in a head-fixed position but he could manage it by the vestibo-ocular reflex. Brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) revealed cerebellar vermis hypoplasia, mesencephalon and superior cerebellar peduncles constituting the typical molar tooth sign of Joubert syndrome (JS) (Figure 7b). There was no Joubert-related retinal dystrophy, ocular coloboma, cystic renal disease and hepatic fibrosis in the patient.



Figure 3. 1. Familial and clinical information of patient 1.

a. Family pedigree of Patient 1 is shown. Patient 1 is the first child of nonconsanguineous parents. Parents and younger sister are not affected. **b.** Typical molar tooth sign of Joubert syndrome observed in the brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) of the patient is represented by the arrow.

Further evaluation by child and adolescent psychiatry department was performed using the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children (WISC) and he was diagnosed with moderate intellectual disability and obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). His psychiatric symptoms were characterized by repetitive questions, worrying about getting sick and extreme anxiety and anger when non-answered by his mother.

The patient was then directed to Near East University Medical Faculty Hospital Medical Genetics department for molecular genetic analysis.

3.3. Molecular Genetic Analysis of Patient 1

Whole exome sequencing results revealed a homozygous c.2106G>A (rs1276908141) variation in Abelson's Helper Integration 1 (*AHII*) gene and another homozygous c.1739C>T (rs202057391) variation in Coiled-Coil and C2 Domain-Containing Protein 1A (*CC2D1A*) gene, both inherited from heterozygous parents (Figure 10).





a. Sanger sequencing results of the *CC2D1A* c.1739C>T variation in the proband (homozygous T), sister (homozygous C) and parents (heterozygous). **b.** Whole genome sequencing results of the *AHI1* c.2106G>A variant of the proband compared to random unrelated samples.

AHI1 c.2106G>A rs1276908141 is a silent change at codon 702. It was reported in heterozygous state in one JS patient, *in trans* with another known pathogenic JS variant in the HGMD and ClinVar databases.

CC2D1A c.1739C>T rs202057391 is a missense variant causing substitution of threonine with isoleucine at position 580 of the amino acid sequence. This variant was previously reported to be associated with Smith-Magenis Syndrome-like and Mental retardation autosomal recessive 3 disorder in the ClinVar and HGMD databases.

3.4. Neurological Examination of Patients 2 and 3

Neurological and neuropsychiatric evaluation of patient 2 revealed symptoms of autism spectrum disorder and non-syndromic mental retardation (NMR). She also has

obese phenotype, suggestive of a ciliopathy phenotype. Her sibling, 6-year-old male, patient 3, also present autistic features and NMR and he had left renal cysts. Electroencephalogram (EEG) and MRI brain tests of both siblings were normal.

They were born to healthy consanguineous parents from Turkish heritage by NVD as 3750 and 3500 grams, respectively. Family pedigree is shown in **Figure 8**. After neurological examination and screening tests, patients were directed to Uludag University Hospital Department of Medical Genetics for molecular analysis.



Figure 3. 3. Familial information of patients 2 and 3.

Represents the family pedigree of the two siblings. Patient 2 is the daughter and patient 3 is the younger son, who were born to healthy consanguineous parents.

3.5. Molecular Genetic Analysis of Patients 2 and 3

A homozygous novel *CC2D1A* c.1186C>T (p.Arg396*) variant was identified in both siblings, inherited from heterozygote parents (Figure 11). No other candidate variations potentially related to their phenotype was detected in whole exome sequencing analysis. *CC2D1A* c.1186C>T (p.Arg396*) variation creates a truncated CC2D1A protein, potentially causing loss of function effect.



Figure 3. 4. Molecular genetic analysis results of patients 2 and 3.

a. Sanger sequencing results of the *CC2D1A* c.1186C>T variation detected in patients 2 and 3 are represented in this figure. Patients inherited the variation from heterozygote parents.

3.6. Discussion

Ciliopathies are a wide range of disorders with multiple organ involvements and affect thousands of patients worldwide. Ciliopathies are caused by pathogenic gene variations in cilia-related proteins. Advances in molecular genetic analysis and genome editing technologies enable detection and identification of new genes and novel variants in patients, especially with rare genetic disorders. Identification of homozygous variations in the *CC2D1A* gene in three patients representing ciliopathy phenotypes led us to investigate the role of this gene in cilia using model organisms.

Patient 1, has two homozygous mutations that may result in a combined effect in the phenotype. He was diagnosed with pure JS co-occurring with severe OCD and has a synonymous homozygous mutation in the *AHI1* gene, which is an established JS gene. However, this is the first study that report this synonymous variation in homozygous

form in a JS patient. As it is unlikely that the presence of this variation alone to result in the strong phenotype observed in our patient alone, we thought that *CC2D1A* mutation is enhancing the phenotype. Detection of another novel *CC2D1A* variation in two siblings with ciliopathy-related phenotypes strengthened our hypothesis.

CHAPTER FOUR: USING *CAENORHABDITIS ELEGANS* AS A MODEL TO STUDY *CC2D1A*

4.1. Introduction

C.elegans are an excellent model to study neurodevelopmental and cilia-related disorders and genes as a comprehensive connectivity map of their neuronal structure is readily available and a substantial amount of adult hermaphrodite neurons possess cilia at the ends of their dendritic processes. Easy genetic manipulation allows creation of knockout and transgenic animals. Their transparency make *C.elegans* an ideal model organism to investigate protein expression and localization by fluorescent labelling. We used *C.elegans* to investigate the effect of *CC2D1A* in cilia structure or function by creating *CC2D1A* knockout organisms by CRISPR-Cas9 technology. Additionally, localization of CC2D1A protein was determined by creating models that express fluorescently-labelled CC2D1A.

4.2. Optimization of Control Primers

Designed primers were optimized by gradient PCR, using wild-type *C.elegans* DNA as template (Figure 13). Expected band size was 4219bp. Even though there were non-specific bands at approximately 2600bp, 67^oC was determined as the optimal annealing temperature for the control primers.



Figure 4. 1. Optimization of control primers targeting the Y37H9A3.1 gene in *C.elegans*.

Agarose gel image of gradient PCR products set with control primers and wild-type *C.elegans* DNA as template. Expected band size was 4219bp. Thicker bands at 4219 base pairs indicate *Y37H9A3.1* in wild type *C. elegans*, other bands at 2600bp are non-specific. There were no products above 67.2°C. 67°C was determined as the optimal annealing temperature for the control primers. (NTC: no template control)

4.3. Confirmation of sgRNA Ligation Into the pRB1017 sgRNA Backbone Vector Three sgRNAs (sgRNAI, sgRNAIIa and sgRNAIII) targeting *Y37H9A.3.1, C.elegans* homolog of *CC2D1A*, were cloned into the pRB1017 vector to be used in CRISPR-Cas knockout of the gene. For each sgRNA, a ready forward primer targeting the vector and the sgRNA's own reverse oligo was used as the reverse primer (Figure 14a). Bands around 580bp were expected to confirm cloning of sgRNAs into the backbone vector. Cloning procedure was repeated for failed sgRNAs until correct bands are observed (Figure 14b).



Figure 4. 2. Confirmation of sgRNA insertion into the backbone vector.

a. Represents the locations of forward and reverse primers used to confirm the insertion of sgRNAs into the backbone vector pBR1017. **b.** Agarose gel images of pBR1017 vector after cloning and transfection with sgRNAI, II and III. Strong bands at 580bp indicates the presence of sgRNA in the vector. No or faint bands indicate no insert. (EV: empty vector)

4.4. Confirmation of Transformation of E.coli with Ligated Vectors

Upon transformation of competent *E.coli* cells with previously prepared sgRNA expressing pRB1017 vectors, colony PCR was performed to select transformed colonies. For each sgRNA, forward primer targeting the vector and the sgRNA's own reverse oligo was used as the reverse primer (Figure 14a). Bands around 580bp were expected to confirm transformation of *E.coli* colony with the vector. Agarose gel images are shown in Figure 15. Colonies labelled as 1.8 (for sgRNAI), 2.6 (for sgRNAII) and 3.6 (for sgRNAIII) were selected. Vectors isolated from these cells were used for injection, together with the Cas9 expression vector for CRISPR-Cas9 experiments in *C.elegans*.





4.5. Confirmation of CC2D1A Knockout in C.elegans

After the injection of over 25 *C.elegans* with CRISPR-Cas9 components, they were grown and 6 F1 worms with a roller phenotype were selected. After production of eggs, control PCR was set up to detect the F1 organisms that has heterozygous or homozygous deletion in *CC2D1A* (Figure 16).



Figure 4. 4. Confirmation of *CC2D1A* knock-out and selection of mutant *C.elegans*.

Agarose gel image of 6 F1 *C.elegans* that show the 'roller' phenotype. Worms 2 and 5 had the wild-type genotype. Worms 1,3,4 and 6 were heterozygotes. (WT: wild type, NTC: no template control)

Worms labelled as 1,3,4, and 6 had bands suggestive of heterozygous deletion in *CC2D1A*. Their offspring (F2 generation) were planned to be analyzed to detect homozygous *CC2D1A* knockout mutants. Unfortunately, even though the experiments were repeated at least 3 times and with different sgRNA oligos as well, no worms with this genotype could be obtained. Complete knockout of *CC2D1A* is likely lethal in lower eukaryotes like *C.elegans*.

4.6. Localization of CC2D1A in C.elegans

Transgenic *C.elegans* expressing CC2D1A::GFP and CEP-41::wrmScarlet were visualized under fluorescent microscope (Figure 17). CC2D1A::GFP expression was observed in cilia and dendritic cells of *C.elegans* tail. The protein largely co-localises with the CEP41, suggesting a possible role in tubulin structure / function. Further functional analyses will be needed to understand the precise function of the protein.



Figure 4. 5. CC2D1A protein expression in *C.elegans* cilia.

a. Fluorescent imaging of CC2D1A::GFP (green), CC2D1A::GFP and CEP41::wrmScarlet merged (yellow), CEP41::wrmScarlet (red). Tail structure of the *C.elegans*, including the cilia, dendrites and cell body are also represented in the figure. **b.** Close-up image of the cilia expressing CC2D1A::GFP (green), CC2D1A::GFP and CEP41::wrmScarlet merged (yellow), CEP41::wrmScarlet (red).

4.7. Discussion

Even though heterozygous *CC2D1A* knockout *C.elegans* were obtained and mated, no homozygous knockouts were detected in the following generations. These results suggest that complete loss of this protein is lethal in early stages of life in lower eukaryotic organisms like the *C.elegans*. Further molecular characterization and functional analyses will enable us understand the precise role of CC2D1A protein. Determining protein localization is an important starting point to reveal its function.

Expression of fluorescently-tagged CC2D1A protein revealed that it is localized in the cilia and in dendrites of *C.elegans* tail. This may suggest a possible role in cargo transfer, which is a crucial aspect of ciliogenesis and normal cilia function.

CHAPTER FIVE: USING *XENOPUS TROPICALIS* AS A MODEL ORGANISM

5.1. Introduction

Xenopus tadpoles have long been used as model organisms to study ciliary structure and function as well as neurodevelopmental diseases. Larval skin of *Xenopus* possesses multiciliated cells on epithelial surface that can easily be visualized either by staining ciliary axonemes or by high-speed videography to assess structure and function. Compared to *X.leavis*, *X.tropicalis* has much shorter generation time and has a diploid genome, which makes it more advantageous (Dubaissi and Papalopulu 2011).

We created *CC2D1A* knockout *X.tropicalis* animals to study the possible role of this protein on the cilia present on their epidermal surface. Effect of gene knockout on structure was visualized by immunohistochemical staining and effect on ciliary function was analyzed using optical coherence tomography to assess cilia flow in control and knockout organisms.

5.2. Epidermal Cilia Flow is Disturbed in CC2D1A Knockout X.tropicalis

Cilia function in control and *CC2D1A* knockout *X.tropicalis* groups was evaluated by visualizing the flow created over ciliated skin at stage 28 by optical coherence tomography (OCT). OCT is described as the optical analogue of ultrasound imaging. It is non-invasive and non-distructive, therefore can be used to capture micrometer-resolution 2 or 3 dimensional images or videos of tissues *in vivo*.

Coordinated beating of healthy cilia creates a directed fluid flow. Disruption in normal fluid flow is caused by defects during ciliogenesis or cilia polarity. OCT images of flow over the ciliated epidermal surface of an embryo from uninjected control group and a *CC2D1A* knockout embryo are shown in **Figure 18a**. Normal, directed flow over the ciliated skin is observed in the uninjected control *X.tropicalis*, whereas the directionality of the fluid flow is clearly disturbed in *CC2D1A* knockout model.

Total OCT results obtained in multiple measurements demonstrated the difference in cilia function between uninjected control group, only Cas-9 injected controls, *CC2D1A* knockout group and *CC2D2A* knockout group quantitatively (**Figure 18b**). The number of organisms with normal cilia flow decreased significantly in *CC2D1A* knockout group compared to UIC and Cas-9 control groups. The decrease in the amount of normal cilia flow in *CC2D1A* knockout group is even greater than the *CC2D2A* knockout group, which is an established ciliopathy gene. These results clearly demonstrate the decrease in cilia function due to the absence of CC2D1A protein, suggesting a possible role in ciliogenesis.



Normal Epidermal Cilia Flow

Disturbed Epidermal Cilia Flow





a. Fluid flow over epidermal cilia was captured by OCT and images were represented in this figure. Image on the left panel shows normal directional flow created over ciliated skin of wild type *X.tropicalis* epidermis. On the right panel, disturbed epidermal cilia flow is visible in *CC2D1A* knockout animal. **b.** Total OCT results are summarized in the chart. In each column, the times that the experiment was repeated

(x) and the total number of *X.tropicalis* evaluated (n) are shown. Cas-9 control group demonstrate the results of the damage created by microinjections. There is a significant decrease in function of embryonic epidermal cilia in *CC2D1A* knockout embryos compared to UIC and Cas-9 control groups. (UIC: uninjected control)

5.3. Loss of Epidermal Cilia is Observed in CC2D1A Knockout X.tropicalis

After the establishment of the changes in cilia function, immunostaining on UIC tadpoles with normal epidermal flow and *CC2D1A* and *CC2D2A* knockout tadpoles with disturbed epidermal flow was performed to observe changes in amount, distribution and morphology of epidermal cilia. A significant decrease in the number of multiciliated cells on *CC2D1A* knockout epidermis was observed compared to UIC and Cas-9 injected controls as well as a clear disruption in morphology and distribution of cilia over the skin (**Figure 19.a.**). Cilia count per area was calculated to understand the difference in the consistency. **Figure 19.b.** shows the significant decrease in the number of epidermal surface cilia in *CC2D1A* knockout samples with abnormal epidermal cilia flow compared to UIC group. This further confirms a possible role for CC2D1A protein in ciliogenesis. Consistent with the results obtained from OCT, the amount of decrease in cilia number per area in *CC2D1A* knockout samples was greater than *CC2D2A* knockout samples.





Figure 5. 2. Immunohistochemical staining results of epidermal cilia in control and *CC2D1A* knockout *X.tropicalis*.

a. Immunohistochemical staining images of control and *CC2D1A* knockout *X.tropicalis* multiciliated epidermal skin obtained by confocal fluorescent microscopy is shown. Phalloidin dye (violet) selectively stains the actin filaments of epidermal cells. Ciliary axonemes were stained with acetylated α -tubulin antibody (green). Disruption in amount, morphology and distribution of cilia in *CC2D1A* knockout model is clearly visible in fluorescent images. **b.** Cilia count per area in UIC, *CC2D1A* and *CC2D2A* knockout animals is demonstrated in the chart. The difference between the UIC and *CC2D1A* knockout group is statistically significant (p<0.05).

5.4. Knockout of *CC2D1A* **Results in Craniofacial Malformations in** *X.tropicalis* Control and *CC2D1A* knockout larvae were visualized under light microscope at stage 41-42 to investigate any change in gross morphology of craniofacial features. Malformations caused by *CC2D1A* knockout were greater than malformations resulted from *CC2D2A* knockout (Figure 20).



CC2D1A-F0 Knockout

CC2D2A-F0 Knockout

Figure 5. 3. Craniofacial analysis of control and CC2D1A knockout X.tropicalis Dorsal views of gross craniofacial morphology of wild type, *CC2D1A* and *CC2D2A* knockout *X.tropicalis* obtained by light microscopy is shown in the figure.

5.5. Discussion

Analysis on epidermal cilia of *X.tropicalis* tadpoles revealed altered function as well as altered structure in *CC2D1A* knockout models when compared to wild type controls.

Knockout animals represented reduced ciliary flow over epidermal surface, which indicates a functional problem. The reduction was even more than the CC2D2A knockout models, which were used as positive controls as *CC2D2A* is an established ciliopathy gene. Immunohistochemical staining of epidermal multiciliated cells revealed reduced number of cilia per area in *CC2D1A* knockout animals, compared to wild types.
Further investigations to analyze gross craniofacial features of *X.tropicalis* tadpoles revealed that loss of CC2D1A protein results in certain alterations in craniofacial structures of the tadpoles, similar to the changes created by the loss of CC2D2A protein.

It is likely that this protein has a functional role during ciliogenesis that its absence resembles the phenotypic features created by the absence of a known ciliopathy gene.

CHAPTER SIX: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Ciliopathies are complex genetic disorders that are caused by defects in cilia structure or function. Identification of non-motile cilia that present on almost all cell types in eukaryotic organisms and their involvement in numerous cellular processes greatly accelerated the research and data-flow in the field within the last two decades (Mitchison and Valente 2017). Advances in molecular genetic research, such as development of highly sensitive next generation sequencing technologies and genome editing techniques led to the establishment of several novel genes associated with cilia and identification of genetic variations resulting in ciliopathy-related phenotypes.

One of the greatest leaps in genome editing technology was the adaptation of CRISPR-Cas9 system to be used in eukaryotic cells. It allowed the creation of model organisms for evaluation of the function of novel genes or effect of detected variants in various systems (Ma and Liu 2015).

In this project, we designed model systems to analyze the effect of the *CC2D1A* gene in ciliogenesis and cilia function upon identification of homozygous variants in *CC2D1A* gene in three patients representing ciliopathy-related symptoms. Additionally, protein localization was analyzed by creating transgenic *C.elegans* model to have an insight about the function of the protein in cilia.

6.1. Detection of *CC2D1A* **Gene Variants in Patients with Ciliopathy Phenotype** Patient 1, who was the first patient participated in this research study had clinical symptoms suggestive of Joubert syndrome, later supported by the MRI results. The patient is a 17-year-old male and was born to non-consanguineous healthy parents. He also has a non-affected healthy sister.

Further evaluation of this patient by a child and adolescent psychiatrist because of physciatric symptoms started two years ago and characterized by repetitive questions, extreme anxiety and anger when non-answered by his mother and worrying about getting sick revealed that he has severe obsessive-compulsive disorder co-occuring

with pure JS. Even though behavioral problems such as hyperactivity, temper tantrums, inattention and depression were reported in Joubert syndrome patients before, our patient represents emotional and behavioral acts more suggestive of obsessive compulsive disorder, which was not reported to co-occur with JS in the literature previously (Farmer et al. 2006; Fennell et al. 1999; Parisi and Glass 2017). Molecular genetic analysis of patient 1 revealed two homozygous variations inherited from heterozygous parents; *AHI1* c.2106G>A p.(Thr702=) (rs1276908141) and *CC2D1A* c.1739C>T p.Thr580Ile (rs202057391).

AHI1 is an established Joubert syndrome gene and pathogenic variations in the gene are common in patients. However, *AHI1* c.2106G>A rs1276908141 is a silent change in the 702nd codon with no effect on the amino acid sequence. According to the ClinVar database, the variant was only reported in one patient with Joubert syndrome previously *in trans* with a pathogenic *AHI1* variant (p.Pro560Thrfs*5) (ClinVar accession RCV000534772.2) (Dixon-Salazar et al. 2004; Valente, Brancati, et al. 2006). It was thought that this variation might be contributing to the disease phenotype observed in the patient, however there is no experimental evidence. In this context, the variation was classified as likely-pathogenic in the ClinVar database. To our knowledge, this patient was the first case reported to the literature carrying homozygous rs1276908141 variant with clinical features consistent with JS.

It was noted in the ClinVar submission that splice site prediction algorithms predict that this variation may create or strengthen a new splice site. However, when we utilized the NNSplice prediction tool, which is a neural network modeling program, no changes in acceptor or donor site predictions were shown.

Previous reports have indicated that the type of the two recessive variants can determine the severity of ciliopathy disorders. Nonsense mutations are classified as strong mutations, whereas missense and synonymous mutations are referred as weak. Presence of two strong mutations result in more severe, early-onset developmental disorders with a broad-range organ involvement as in Meckel's syndrome. Presence of at least one weak mutation, however, causes a milder, late-onset degenerative

disorder such as a mild form of JS (Hildebrandt et al. 2011). We think that the pure JS phenotype co-occurring with severe OCD observed in patient 1 cannot be explained by the presence of two 'weak' synonymous *AHI1* variations.

CC2D1A c.1739C>T, p.Thr580Ile (rs202057391), on the other hand, is a missense variation resulting in the substitution of threonine amino acid in position 580 of the amino acid sequence with isoleucine. Although there are conflicting interpretations of pathogenicity in the ClinVar database, the c.1739C>T (rs202057391) variant detected in our patient was previously reported to be associated with Smith-Magenis syndrome-like disorder and was classified as pathogenic in one submission (Loviglio et al. 2016). However, there are no reports in the databases associating *CC2D1A* gene with Joubert syndrome or any other cilia related disorders and molecular mechanisms by which the CC2D1A protein may be involved in these neuropsychiatric-related behaviors are not explained. Only a recent study by Ma *et.al.* revealed that loss-of-function of *CC2D1A* in zebrafish model results in ciliary dysfunction and defective left-right patterning, suggesting that the loss of this gene may be associated with ciliary dysfunction (Ma et al. 2020).

On the contrary, this variant was classified as benign or likely-benign in other ClinVar submissions and there are five healthy homozygote individuals reported in the GnomAD database for this variant.

In the light of these information and the results obtained from patient 1 we considered that the presence of homozygous *CC2D1A* c.1739C>T, p.Thr580Ile missense variation may enhance the effect of the homozygous synonymous *AHI1* variant in our patient. It is known that involvement of mutations in other modifier genes or the combined effect of two or more recessive genes with heterozygous mutations (true oligogenicity) are important in determination of genotype-phenotype correlations of ciliopathy phenotype (Hildebrandt et al. 2011; Leitch et al. 2008). Shortly after, detection of a novel homozygous *CC2D1A* c.1186C>T (p.Arg396*) variant in two siblings with symptoms of ciliopathy disorder including obesity, renal cysts and autism further supported our hypothesis.

The siblings were born to healthy consanguineous parents. Patient 2 is 10 years old female and patient 3 is a 6-year-old male patient. Neurological and neuropsychiatric evaluation of patients revealed symptoms of autism spectrum disorder and non-syndromic mental retardation (NMR). Patient 2 has obesity, whereas patient 3 had left renal cysts suggestive of a ciliopathy phenotype. There were no abnormalities in electroencephalogram (EEG) and MRI brain tests of both siblings, eliminating JS and other common ciliopathies.

Different from patient 1, there were no other homozygous inherited or *de novo* mutations detected in WES analysis of the siblings, suggesting that the ciliopathy phenotype observed is resulted from the variation detected in *CC2D1A*. *CC2D1A* c.1186C>T (p.Arg396*) variant results in the production of

As previously mentioned, the involvement of the CC2D1A protein in ciliogenesis or cilia functioning was not shown before. Therefore, we decided to generate animal models to establish a role of this protein in cilia.

6.2. Functional and Expressional Analysis of CC2D1A in C.elegans

C.elegans were selected to analyze the effect of *CC2D1A* gene knock-out in cilia due to their ease of maintenance, quick manipulation and analysis time as well as the fact that their genome was entirely sequenced and there is a comprehensive map of their neurons and sensory cilia readily available. Likely, they have exactly 959 somatic cells of which entire lineage has been traced. Cell lineages of *C.elegans* are entirely invariant between organisms (Gilbert 2000). Any defect in cilia and related neurons and structures can be observed and analyzed easily.

After the genetic manipulation of *C.elegans* to disturb *CC2D1A* by CRISPR-Cas9 technique, even though heterozygote animals were established, no homozygous mutants could be obtained. It is likely that the complete loss of this protein is lethal in lower eukaryotes, such as *C.elegans*. In the literature, the role of the CC2D1A protein was shown to be studied in model organisms including *Droshophila melanogaster*,

mouse and human cells, however there are no reports of the use of *C.elegans* (Al-Tawashi et al. 2012; Gallagher and Knoblich 2006; Lopes et al. 2010; Yang et al. 2019; Zhao et al. 2011). This may be explained by our observation of lethality of the absence of the protein in this organism.

In many eukaryotic organisms, cilia are involved in developmental processes such as cell fate decisions and establishment of left-right asymmetry. These are achieved by the fluid flow created by motile cilia within the embryonic node as well as by functioning as signaling centers (Drummond 2012). However, in *C.elegans* the only ciliated cell type is the sensory neuron. 60 out of 302 neurons in an adult hermaphrodite *C.elegans*, have cilia at the ends of the dendrites and none of these are motile. Rather, developmental processes and cell fates are largely determined by cell-cell interactions (Inglis et al. 2007).

In this context, no role in early embryonic development of *C.elegans* is attributed to the cilia. The main function of ciliary cells in the nematode is as sensory organs mostly for mechano- chemo- and oxygen-sensation. A small proportion is involved in mating behaviours.

Also, it is known that cilia proteins have extraciliary roles in various processes such as cell cycle, trafficking, cytoskeleton (Hua and Ferland 2018). Previous studies have shown that CC2D1A protein is involved in transcriptional regulation of some proteins such as NF- κ B and in regulation of spindle pole localization of the cohesin subunit SCC1/RAD21, mediating centriole cohesion during mitosis (Nakamura et al. 2008, 2009; Zhao et al. 2010). Complete loss of protein may be resulting in disturbed cell division during embryonic development of the nematode, or abnormal neuronal development may be resulting in death of mutants. Abnormal neuronal development and function was observed in mutant *droshophila melanogaster* models potentially due to disturbed endosomal trafficking of Notch signaling pathway (Gallagher and Knoblich 2006). Notch signaling was shown to be a key pathway for cilia length control in deltaD zebrafish mutants (Lopes et al. 2010). However, there is no information about the role of CC2D1A in the Notch signal pathway and cilia length control.

A mouse model that produces a truncated form of CC2D1A protein, which lack the C2 domain and three DM14 domains, showed that the protein is important in differentiation of neurons by transducing signals to the cAMP-protein kinase A (PKA) pathway (Al-Tawashi et al. 2012). A recent study indicated that conditional deletion of *CC2D1A* from excitatory neurons of male mouse impair cognitive function through hyperactivation of Rac1, which may implicate Rac1 inhibitors in the treatment of intellectual disability caused by *CC2D1A* mutations (Yang et al. 2019).

Further analysis was performed to detect the localization of CC2D1A protein in *C.elegans* by generation of a transgenic model expressing fluorescently labelled CC2D1A. Results indicated that the protein is localized in the dendrites and cilia regions of *C.elegans* phasmid cilia. To our knowledge, this is the first time that the CC2D1A was shown to be localized in cilia. Cilia proteins have very diverse roles and protein localization can provide precious information about the protein function. Presence of the protein in the dendrites and cilia suggest an involvement in ciliogenesis.

6.3. Functional Analysis of CC2D1A in Xenopus Model

Another model organism used to analyse the CC2D1A protein function in cilia was *Xenopus tropicalis*. Presence of multiciliated cells on the larval epidermal surface and established methods to analyse cilia function effectively made it an ideal model organism for this research project. As in *C.elegans*, CRISPR-Cas9 genome editing technique was used to knock-out the *CC2D1A* gene in *X.tropicalis*. Even though the percentage was lower than usual, homozygous knock-out animals were successfully established.

Disturbed fluid flow over the ciliated skin of *X.tropicalis* larvae in the *CC2D1A* knockout animals clearly represent disturbed function of cilia compared to wild type animals. Cilia-driven fluid flow is crucial for multiple processes including left-right

patterning, mucus clearance, gamete transport in the oviduct and cerebrospinal fluid circulation (Huang and Choma 2015). Previous studies indicated that cilia-driven leftward flow precedes asymmetric *nodal* gene expression in *Xenopus* embryo, determining laterality. Failure of leftward flow results in laterality defects in the tadpoles. Heart looping defect, where the heart bends towards the left (L-loop) side rather than right (D-loop), is among these laterality defects observed in tadpoles with inhibited ciliary flow (Schweickert et al. 2007). In the light of this information we decided to analyze the heart looping patterns of *CC2D1A* knockout tadpoles and preliminary data suggests a significantly increased number of tadpoles with L-loop heart compared to wild types. Cardiac malformations are frequent in ciliopathy disorders and a central role for cilia in congenital heart disease has been established (Elbedour et al. 1994; Klena, Gibbs, and Lo 2017).

A recent study by Ma *et.al.* revealed that loss-of-function of *CC2D1A* in zebrafish model, created by TALENs, results in ciliary dysfunction and heterotaxy suggesting that the loss of this gene may be associated with ciliary dysfunction (Ma et al. 2020). Our results support their findings and also provides an explanation to their observation. Defective cilia caused by loss-of-function of CC2D1A result in ciliopathy-related phenotypes, which include defective left-right patterning during early developmental stages. Likely, our results indicated that absence of CC2D1A cause aberrations in the craniofacial features of *Xenopus* tadpoles.

Loss of skin epithelial cilia on *CC2D1A* knockout tadpole skin explains the disrupted function observed by OCT. It is likely that the protein is involved in ciliogenesis process. Localization data further supports this hypothesis as it is localized in the dendrite and cilia, however its molecular function should further be assessed.

6.4. Conclusion

This study provides experimental evidence that CC2D1A protein encoded by the *CC2D1A* gene in humans is involved in ciliary function, for the first time in the literature. Loss-of-function mutations in the gene are likely to cause severe ciliopathy-

related phenotypes as ciliogenesis is disturbed, resulting in reduced number of cilia in studied model systems.

Additionally, here we report a patient with pure Joubert syndrome that also present severe obsessive-compulsive disorder symptoms carrying a synonymous homozygous *AHI1* variation. It is likely that the phenotype is enhanced by the presence of the homozygous missense variation in the *CC2D1A* gene in this patient. This observation was strengthened by the detection of the novel homozygous missense mutation in the *CC2D1A* gene in two siblings with ciliopathy-related phenotypes.

Identification of novel genes and gene variants in complex genetic diseases is of great importance for development of effective diagnosis and therapy options for the patients. We believe that this work will make a good contribution to the literature and provide valuable information for further studies in the field.

6.5. Future Remarks

Immunocytochemical and mRNA expression analysis in patient-derived fibroblast cells will enable us to detect the differences caused by the *CC2D1A* variations present in our patients compared to healthy, wild type controls.

Further research for molecular characterization, identification of protein-protein interactions and the pathways that the protein is involved in will be planned to widen our knowledge about the molecular mechanisms underlying the functional and structural defects reported in the absence of CC2D1A expression.

Additionally, creation of variant-specific models will enable us to further analyze the effect of variations detected in our patients and identify genotype-phenotype associations. This is particularly important for for the confirmation of predicted combined effect of the two variations in *AHI1* and *CC2D1A* genes in patient 1.

These works will contribute to shed a light on the path of the development of personalized medicine opportunities for patients, especially suffering from rare genetic disorders.

REFERENCES

- Al-Tawashi, Azza, Sung Yun Jung, Dou Liu, Bing Su, and Jun Qin. 2012. "Protein Implicated in Nonsyndromic Mental Retardation Regulates Protein Kinase A (PKA) Activity." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 287(18):14644–58. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.261875.
- Altun, Zeynep F., and David H. Hall. 2021. "WormAtlas C.Elegans Anatomy Handbook - Introduction." *WormAtlas*.
- Anderson, Charles T., Alesha B. Castillo, Samantha A. Brugmann, Jill A. Helms, Christopher R. Jacobs, and Tim Stearns. 2008. "Primary Cilia: Cellular Sensors for the Skeleton." *Anatomical Record* 291(9):1074–78.
- Anon. 2000. "Common Buffers, Media, and Stock Solutions." Current Protocols in Human Genetics 26(1). doi: 10.1002/0471142905.hga02ds26.
- Arribere, Joshua A., Ryan T. Bell, Becky X. H. Fu, Karen L. Artiles, Phil S. Hartman, and Andrew Z. Fire. 2014. "Efficient Marker-Free Recovery of Custom Genetic Modifications with CRISPR/Cas9 in Caenorhabditis Elegans." *Genetics* 198(3):837–46. doi: 10.1534/genetics.114.169730.
- Bachmann-Gagescu, R., J. C. Dempsey, I. G. Phelps, B. J. O'Roak, D. M. Knutzen, T. C. Rue, G. E. Ishak, C. R. Isabella, N. Gorden, J. Adkins, E. A. Boyle, N. de Lacy, D. O'Day, A. Alswaid, A. Radha Ramadevi, L. Lingappa, C. Lourenço, L. Martorell, Garcia-Cazorla, H. Ozyürek, G. Haliloglu, B. Tuysuz, M. Topçu, P. Chance, M. A. Parisi, I. A. Glass, J. Shendure, and Dan Doherty. 2015. "Joubert Syndrome: A Model for Untangling Recessive Disorders with Extreme Genetic Heterogeneity." *Journal of Medical Genetics* 52(8):514–22. doi: 10.1136/jmedgenet-2015-103087.
- Barrière, Antoine, and Marie Anne Félix. 2014. "Isolation of C. Elegans and Related Nematodes." *WormBook : The Online Review of C. Elegans Biology* 1–19.
- Basel-Vanagaite, Lina, R. Attia, M. Yahav, R. J. Ferland, L. Anteki, C. A. Walsh, T. Olender, R. Straussberg, N. Magal, E. Taub, V. Drasinover, A. Alkelai, D. Bercovich, G. Rechavi, A. J. Simon, and M. Shohat. 2006. "The CC2D1A, a Member of a New Gene Family with C2 Domains, Is Involved in Autosomal Recessive Non-Syndromic Mental Retardation." *Journal of Medical Genetics*

43(3):203-10. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2005.035709.

- Bayless, Brian A., Francesca M. Navarro, and Mark Winey. 2019. "Motile Cilia: Innovation and Insight From Ciliate Model Organisms." *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology* 7:265.
- Bhaya, Devaki, Michelle Davison, and Rodolphe Barrangou. 2011. "CRISPR-Cas Systems in Bacteria and Archaea: Versatile Small RNAs for Adaptive Defense and Regulation." *Annual Review of Genetics* 45:273–97. doi: 10.1146/annurevgenet-110410-132430.
- Bibikova, Marina, Mary Golic, Kent G. Golic, and Dana Carroll. 2002. "Targeted Chromosomal Cleavage and Mutagenesis in Drosophila Using Zinc-Finger Nucleases." *Genetics* 161(3):1169–75.
- Blacque, Oliver E., Sebiha Cevik, and Oktay Ismail Kaplan. 2008. "Intraflagellar Transport: From Molecular Characterisation to Mechanism." *Frontiers in Bioscience* 13(7):2633–52.
- Blacque, Oliver E., Chunmei Li, Peter N. Inglis, Muneer A. Esmail, Guangshuo Ou,
 Allan K. Mah, David L. Baillie, Jonathan M. Scholey, and Michel R. Leroux.
 2006. "The WD Repeat-Containing Protein IFTA-1 Is Required for Retrograde
 Intraflagellar Transport." *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 17(12):5053–62. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-06-0571.
- Blacque, Oliver E., Elliot A. Perens, Keith A. Boroevich, Peter N. Inglis, Chunmei Li, Adam Warner, Jaswinder Khattra, Rob A. Holt, Guangshuo Ou, Allan K. Mah, Sheldon J. McKay, Peter Huang, Peter Swoboda, Steve J. M. Jones, Marco A. Marra, David L. Baillie, Donald G. Moerman, Shai Shaham, and Michel R. Leroux. 2005. "Functional Genomics of the Cilium, a Sensory Organelle." *Current Biology* 15(10):935–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2005.04.059.
- Blum, Martin, Tina Beyer, Thomas Weber, Philipp Vick, Philipp Andre, Eva Bitzer, and Axel Schweickert. 2009. "Xenopus, an Ideal Model System to Study Vertebrate Left-Right Asymmetry." *Developmental Dynamics* 238(6):1215–25.
- Blum, Martin, and Tim Ott. 2019. "Xenopus: An Undervalued Model Organism to Study and Model Human Genetic Disease." *Cells Tissues Organs* 205(5–6):303– 12.
- Boch, Jens, Heidi Scholze, Sebastian Schornack, Angelika Landgraf, Simone Hahn,

Sabine Kay, Thomas Lahaye, Anja Nickstadt, and Ulla Bonas. 2009. "Breaking the Code of DNA Binding Specificity of TAL-Type III Effectors." *Science* 326(5959):1509–12. doi: 10.1126/science.1178811.

- Bolukbasi, Mehmet Fatih, Ankit Gupta, Sarah Oikemus, Alan G. Derr, Manuel Garber, Michael H. Brodsky, Lihua Julie Zhu, and Scot A. Wolfe. 2015. "DNA-Binding-Domain Fusions Enhance the Targeting Range and Precision of Cas9." *Nature Methods* 12(12):1150–56. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3624.
- Bonnard, Carine, Anna C. Strobl, Mohammad Shboul, Hane Lee, Barry Merriman, Stanley F. Nelson, Osama H. Ababneh, Elif Uz, Tülay Güran, Hülya Kayserili, Hanan Hamamy, and Bruno Reversade. 2012. "Mutations in IRX5 Impair Craniofacial Development and Germ Cell Migration via SDF1." *Nature Genetics* 44(6):709–13. doi: 10.1038/ng.2259.
- Breslow, David K., and Andrew J. Holland. 2019. "Mechanism and Regulation of Centriole and Cilium Biogenesis." *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 88:691–724.
- Cantagrel, Vincent, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Stephanie L. Bielas, Dominika Swistun, Sarah E. Marsh, Julien Y. Bertrand, Sophie Audollent, Tania Attié-Bitach, Kenton R. Holden, William B. Dobyns, David Traver, Lihadh Al-Gazali, Bassam R. Ali, Tom H. Lindner, Tamara Caspary, Edgar A. Otto, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Ian A. Glass, Clare V. Logan, Colin A. Johnson, Christopher Bennett, Francesco Brancati, Enza Maria Valente, C. Geoffrey Woods, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2008. "Mutations in the Cilia Gene ARL13B Lead to the Classical Form of Joubert Syndrome." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 83(2):170–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.06.023.
- Capecchi, Mario R. 2005. "Gene Targeting in Mice: Functional Analysis of the Mammalian Genome for the Twenty-First Century." *Nature Reviews Genetics* 6(6):507–12.
- Del Cerro, Manuel P., Ray S. Snider, and Mary Lou Oster. 1969. "The Purkinje Cell Cilium." *The Anatomical Record* 165(2):127–39. doi: 10.1002/ar.1091650202.
- Chaki, Moumita, Rannar Airik, Amiya K. Ghosh, Rachel H. Giles, Rui Chen, Gisela G. Slaats, Hui Wang, Toby W. Hurd, Weibin Zhou, Andrew Cluckey, Heon Yung Gee, Gokul Ramaswami, Chen Jei Hong, Bruce A. Hamilton, Igor Červenka, Ranjani Sri Ganji, Vitezslav Bryja, Heleen H. Arts, Jeroen Van Reeuwijk,

MacHteld M. Oud, Stef J. F. Letteboer, Ronald Roepman, Hervé Husson, Oxana Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, Takayuki Yasunaga, Gerd Walz, Lorraine Eley, John A. Sayer, Bernhard Schermer, Max C. Liebau, Thomas Benzing, Stephanie Le Corre, Iain Drummond, Sabine Janssen, Susan J. Allen, Sivakumar Natarajan, John F. O'Toole, Massimo Attanasio, Sophie Saunier, Corinne Antignac, Robert K. Koenekoop, Huanan Ren, Irma Lopez, Ahmet Nayir, Corinne Stoetzel, Helene Dollfus, Rustin Massoudi, Joseph G. Gleeson, Sharon P. Andreoli, Dan G. Doherty, Anna Lindstrad, Christelle Golzio, Nicholas Katsanis, Lars Pape, Emad B. Abboud, Ali A. Al-Rajhi, Richard A. Lewis, Heymut Omran, Eva Y. H. P. Lee, Shaohui Wang, Joann M. Sekiguchi, Rudel Saunders, Colin A. Johnson, Elizabeth Garner, Katja Vanselow, Jens S. Andersen, Joseph Shlomai, Gudrun Nurnberg, Peter Nurnberg, Shawn Levy, Agata Smogorzewska, Edgar A. Otto, and Friedhelm Hildebrandt. 2012. "Exome Capture Reveals ZNF423 and CEP164 Mutations, Linking Renal Ciliopathies to DNA Damage Response Signaling." *Cell* 150(3):533–48. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.06.028.

- Chemello, Francesco, Rhonda Bassel-Duby, and Eric N. Olson. 2020. "Correction of Muscular Dystrophies by CRISPR Gene Editing." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 130(6):2766–76.
- Cho, Seung Woo, Sojung Kim, Jong Min Kim, and Jin Soo Kim. 2013. "Targeted Genome Engineering in Human Cells with the Cas9 RNA-Guided Endonuclease." *Nature Biotechnology* 31(3):230–32. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2507.
- Cong, Le, F. Ann Ran, David Cox, Shuailiang Lin, Robert Barretto, Naomi Habib, Patrick D. Hsu, Xuebing Wu, Wenyan Jiang, Luciano A. Marraffini, and Feng Zhang. 2013. "Multiplex Genome Engineering Using CRISPR/Cas Systems." *Science* 339(6121):819–23. doi: 10.1126/science.1231143.
- Corbit, Kevin C., Pia Aanstad, Veena Singla, Andrew R. Norman, Didier Y. R. Stainier, and Jeremy F. Reiter. 2005. "Vertebrate Smoothened Functions at the Primary Cilium." *Nature* 437(7061):1018–21. doi: 10.1038/nature04117.
- Corsi, Ann K., Bruce Wightman, and Martin Chalfie. 2015. "A Transparent Window into Biology: A Primer on Caenorhabditis Elegans." *WormBook : The Online Review of C. Elegans Biology* 1–31.
- Cradick, Thomas J., Eli J. Fine, Christopher J. Antico, and Gang Bao. 2013.

"CRISPR/Cas9 Systems Targeting β-Globin and CCR5 Genes Have Substantial off-Target Activity." *Nucleic Acids Research* 41(20):9584–92. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt714.

- Cruz, Nelly M., and Benjamin S. Freedman. 2018. "CRISPR Gene Editing in the Kidney." American Journal of Kidney Diseases 71(6):874–83. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2018.02.347.
- Culetto, Emmanuel, and David B. Sattelle. 2000. "A Role for Caenorhabditis Elegans in Understanding the Function and Interactions of Human Disease Genes." *Human Molecular Genetics* 9(6):869–77. doi: 10.1093/hmg/9.6.869.
- Dafinger, Claudia, Max Christoph Liebau, Solaf Mohamed Elsayed, Yorck Hellenbroich, Eugen Boltshauser, Georg Christoph Korenke, Francesca Fabretti, Andreas Robert Janecke, Inga Ebermann, Gudrun Nürnberg, Peter Nürnberg, Hanswalter Zentgraf, Friederike Koerber, Klaus Addicks, Ezzat Elsobky, Thomas Benzing, Bernhard Schermer, and Hanno Jörn Bolz. 2011. "Mutations in KIF7 Link Joubert Syndrome with Sonic Hedgehog Signaling and Microtubule Dynamics." *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 121(7):2662–67. doi: 10.1172/JCI43639.
- Date, Priya, Pascal Ackermann, Charuta Furey, Ina Berenice Fink, Stephan Jonas, Mustafa K. Khokha, Kristopher T. Kahle, and Engin Deniz. 2019. "Visualizing Flow in an Intact CSF Network Using Optical Coherence Tomography: Implications for Human Congenital Hydrocephalus." *Scientific Reports* 9(1):1– 15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42549-4.
- Davis, Erica E., Qi Zhang, Qin Liu, Bill H. Diplas, Lisa M. Davey, Jane Hartley, Corinne Stoetzel, Katarzyna Szymanska, Gokul Ramaswami, Clare V. Logan, Donna M. Muzny, Alice C. Young, David A. Wheeler, Pedro Cruz, Margaret Morgan, Lora R. Lewis, Praveen Cherukuri, Baishali Maskeri, Nancy F. Hansen, James C. Mullikin, Robert W. Blakesley, Gerard G. Bouffard, Gabor Gyapay, Susanne Rieger, Burkhard Tönshoff, Ilse Kern, Neveen A. Soliman, Thomas J. Neuhaus, Kathryn J. Swoboda, Hulya Kayserili, Tomas E. Gallagher, Richard A. Lewis, Carsten Bergmann, Edgar A. Otto, Sophie Saunier, Peter J. Scambler, Philip L. Beales, Joseph G. Gleeson, Eamonn R. Maher, Tania Attié-Bitach, Hélène Dollfus, Colin A. Johnson, Eric D. Green, Richard A. Gibbs, Friedhelm

Hildebrandt, Eric A. Pierce, and Nicholas Katsanis. 2011. "TTC21B Contributes Both Causal and Modifying Alleles across the Ciliopathy Spectrum." *Nature Genetics* 43(3):189–96. doi: 10.1038/ng.756.

- Dellinger, O. P. 1909. "The Cilium as a Key to the Structure of Contractile Protoplasm." *Journal of Morphology* 20(2):171–210. doi: 10.1002/jmor.1050200202.
- Delous, Marion, Lekbir Baala, Rémi Salomon, Christine Laclef, Jeanette Vierkotten, Kàlmàn Tory, Christelle Golzio, Tiphanie Lacoste, Laurianne Besse, Catherine Ozilou, Imane Moutkine, Nathan E. Hellman, Isabelle Anselme, Flora Silbermann, Christine Vesque, Christoph Gerhardt, Eleanor Rattenberry, Matthias T. F. Wolf, Marie Claire Gubler, Jéléna Martinovic, Féréchté Encha-Razavi, Nathalie Boddaert, Marie Gonzales, Marie Alice Macher, Hubert Nivet, Gérard Champion, Jean Pierre Berthélémé, Patrick Niaudet, Fiona McDonald, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Colin A. Johnson, Michel Vekemans, Corinne Antignac, Ulrich Rüther, Sylvie Schneider-Maunoury, Tania Attié-Bitach, and Sophie Saunier. 2007. "The Ciliary Gene RPGRIP1L Is Mutated in Cerebello-Oculo-Renal Syndrome (Joubert Syndrome Type B) and Meckel Syndrome." *Nature Genetics* 39(7):875–81. doi: 10.1038/ng2039.
- Deltcheva, Elitza, Krzysztof Chylinski, Cynthia M. Sharma, Karine Gonzales, Yanjie Chao, Zaid A. Pirzada, Maria R. Eckert, Jörg Vogel, and Emmanuelle Charpentier. 2011. "CRISPR RNA Maturation by Trans-Encoded Small RNA and Host Factor RNase III." *Nature* 471(7340):602–7. doi: 10.1038/nature09886.
- Dickinson, Daniel J., Jordan D. Ward, David J. Reiner, and Bob Goldstein. 2013. "Engineering the Caenorhabditis Elegans Genome Using Cas9-Triggered Homologous Recombination." *Nature Methods* 10(10):1028–34. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2641.
- Dixon-Salazar, Tracy, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Sarah E. Marsh, Carrie M. Louie, Lesley C. Scott, Aithala Gururaj, Lihadh Al-Gazali, Asma A. Al-Tawari, Hulya Kayserili, László Sztriha, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2004. "Mutations in the AHI1 Gene, Encoding Jouberin, Cause Jeubert Syndrome with Cortical Polymicrogyria." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 75(6):979–87. doi: 10.1086/425985.

- Doyon, Yannick, Jasmine M. McCammon, Jeffrey C. Miller, Farhoud Faraji, Catherine Ngo, George E. Katibah, Rainier Amora, Toby D. Hocking, Lei Zhang, Edward J. Rebar, Philip D. Gregory, Fyodor D. Urnov, and Sharon L. Amacher.
 2008. "Heritable Targeted Gene Disruption in Zebrafish Using Designed Zinc-Finger Nucleases." *Nature Biotechnology* 26(6):702–8. doi: 10.1038/nbt1409.
- Drummond, Iain A. 2012. "Cilia Functions in Development." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 24(1):24–30.
- Dubaissi, Eamon, and Nancy Papalopulu. 2011. "Embryonic Frog Epidermis: A Model for the Study of Cell-Cell Interactions in the Development of Mucociliary Disease." DMM Disease Models and Mechanisms 4(2):179–92. doi: 10.1242/dmm.006494.
- Duldulao, Neil A., Sunjin Lee, and Zhaoxia Sun. 2009. "Cilia Localization Is Essential for in Vivo Functions of the Joubert Syndrome Protein Arl13b/Scorpion." *Development* 136(23):4033–42. doi: 10.1242/dev.036350.
- Edvardson, Simon, Avraham Shaag, Shamir Zenvirt, Yaniv Erlich, Gregory J. Hannon, Alan L. Shanske, John Moshe Gomori, Joseph Ekstein, and Orly Elpeleg. 2010. "Joubert Syndrome 2 (JBTS2) in Ashkenazi Jews Is Associated with a TMEM216 Mutation." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 86(1):93– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2009.12.007.
- Efimenko, Evgeni, Oliver E. Blacque, Guangshuo Ou, Courtney J. Haycraft, Bradley K. Yoder, Jonathan M. Scholey, Michel R. Leroux, and Peter Swoboda. 2006.
 "Caenorhabditis Elegans DYF-2, an Orthologue of Human WDR19, Is a Component of the Intraflagellar Transport Machinery in Sensory Cilia." *Molecular Biology of the Cell* 17(11):4801–11. doi: 10.1091/mbc.E06-04-0260.
- Eisen, Judith S. 2019. "History of Zebrafish Research." Pp. 3–14 in *The Zebrafish in Biomedical Research: Biology, Husbandry, Diseases, and Research Applications*. Elsevier.
- Elbedour, K., N. Zucker, E. Zalzstein, Y. Barki, and R. Carmi. 1994. "Cardiac Abnormalities in the Bardet-Biedl Syndrome: Echocardiographic Studies of 22 Patients." *American Journal of Medical Genetics* 52(2):164–69. doi: 10.1002/ajmg.1320520208.
- Eley, Lorraine, Christos Gabrielides, Matthew Adams, Colin A. Johnson, Friedhelm

Hildebrandt, and John A. Sayer. 2008. "Jouberin Localizes to Collecting Ducts and Interacts with Nephrocystin-1." *Kidney International* 74(9):1139–49. doi: 10.1038/ki.2008.377.

- Epinat, Jean Charles, Sylvain Amould, Patrick Chames, Pascal Rochaix, Dominique Desfontaines, Clé mence Puzin, Amélie Patin, Alexandre Zanghellini, Frédéric Pâques, and Emmanuel Lacroix. 2003. "A Novel Engineered Meganuclease Induces Homologous Recombination in Yeast and Mammalian Cells." *Nucleic Acids Research* 31(11):2952–62. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg375.
- Farmer, Janet E., Kathleen M. Deidrick, Jill C. Gitten, Eileen B. Fennell, and Bernard L. Maria. 2006. "Parenting Stress and Its Relationship to the Behavior of Children with Joubert Syndrome." *Journal of Child Neurology* 21(2):163–67. doi: 10.1177/08830738060210020401.
- Fennell, Eileen B., Jill C. Gitten, Duane E. Dede, and Bernard L. Maria. 1999. "Cognition, Behavior, and Development in Joubert Syndrome." *Journal of Child Neurology* 14(9):592–96.
- Ferland, Russell J., Wafaa Eyaid, Randall V. Collura, Laura D. Tully, R. Sean Hill, Doha Al-Nouri, Ahmed Al-Rumayyan, Meral Topcu, Generoso Gascon, Adria Bodell, Yin Yao Shugart, Maryellen Ruvolo, and Christopher A. Walsh. 2004.
 "Abnormal Cerebellar Development and Axonal Decussation Due to Mutations in AHI1 in Joubert Syndrome." *Nature Genetics* 36(9):1008–13. doi: 10.1038/ng1419.
- Fu, Yanfang, Jennifer A. Foden, Cyd Khayter, Morgan L. Maeder, Deepak Reyon, J. Keith Joung, and Jeffry D. Sander. 2013. "High-Frequency off-Target Mutagenesis Induced by CRISPR-Cas Nucleases in Human Cells." *Nature Biotechnology* 31(9):822–26. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2623.
- Gallagher, Ciara M., and Juergen A. Knoblich. 2006. "The Conserved C2 Domain Protein Lethal (2) Giant Discs Regulates Protein Trafficking in Drosophila." *Developmental Cell* 11(5):641–53. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2006.09.014.
- Garcia-Gonzalo, Francesc R., Kevin C. Corbit, Maré Salomé Sirerol-Piquer, Gokul Ramaswami, Edgar A. Otto, Thomas R. Noriega, Allen D. Seol, Jon F. Robinson, Christopher L. Bennett, Dragana J. Josifova, José Manuel García-Verdugo, Nicholas Katsanis, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, and Jeremy F. Reiter. 2011. "A

Transition Zone Complex Regulates Mammalian Ciliogenesis and Ciliary Membrane Composition." *Nature Genetics* 43(8):776–84. doi: 10.1038/ng.891.

Gilbert, Scott F. 2000. "Early Development of the Nematode Caenorhabditis Elegans."

- Glass, Zachary, Matthew Lee, Yamin Li, and Qiaobing Xu. 2018. "Engineering the Delivery System for CRISPR-Based Genome Editing." *Trends in Biotechnology* 36(2):173–85.
- Grainger, Robert M. 2012. "Xenopus Tropicalis as a Model Organism for Genetics and Genomics: Past, Present, and Future." *Methods in Molecular Biology* 917:3– 15. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-992-1_1.
- Gray, J. 1930. "The Mechanism of Ciliary Movement.—VI. Photographic and Stroboscopic Analysis of Ciliary Movement." *Proceedings of the Royal Society* of London. Series B, Containing Papers of a Biological Character 107(751):313– 32. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1930.0075.
- Gray, J. 1955. "The Movement of Sea-Urchin Spermatozoa." *Journal of Experimental Biology* 32(4):775–801. doi: 10.1242/jeb.32.4.775.
- Grimes, D. T., C. W. Boswell, N. F. C. Morante, R. M. Henkelman, R. D. Burdine, and B. Ciruna. 2016. "Zebrafish Models of Idiopathic Scoliosis Link Cerebrospinal Fluid Flow Defects to Spine Curvature." *Science* 352(6291):1341– 44. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf6419.
- Guilinger, John P., David B. Thompson, and David R. Liu. 2014. "Fusion of Catalytically Inactive Cas9 to FokI Nuclease Improves the Specificity of Genome Modification." *Nature Biotechnology* 32(6):577–82. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2909.
- Hagenlocher, Cathrin, Peter Walentek, Christina Müller, Thomas Thumberger, and Kerstin Feistel. 2013. "Ciliogenesis and Cerebrospinal Fluid Flow in the Developing Xenopus Brain Are Regulated by Foxj1." *Cilia* 2(1). doi: 10.1186/2046-2530-2-12.
- Hall, D. H., and Z. F. Altun. 2007. "C. Elegans Atlas." C. Elegans Atlas.
- He, Xiangjun, Chunlai Tan, Feng Wang, Yaofeng Wang, Rui Zhou, Dexuan Cui, Wenxing You, Hui Zhao, Jianwei Ren, and Bo Feng. 2016. "Knock-in of Large Reporter Genes in Human Cells via CRISPR/Cas9-Induced Homology-Dependent and Independent DNA Repair." *Nucleic Acids Research* 44(9). doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw064.

- Van der Heiden, Kim, Anastasia D. Egorova, Robert E. Poelmann, Jolanda J. Wentzel, and Beerend P. Hierck. 2011. "Role for Primary Cilia as Flow Detectors in the Cardiovascular System." Pp. 87–119 in *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology*. Vol. 290. Elsevier Inc.
- Hellsten, Uffe, Richard M. Harland, Michael J. Gilchrist, David Hendrix, Jerzy Jurka, Vladimir Kapitonov, Ivan Ovcharenko, Nicholas H. Putnam, Shengqiang Shu, Leila Taher, Ira L. Blitz, Bruce Blumberg, Darwin S. Dichmann, Lnna Dubchak, Enrique Amaya, John C. Detter, Russell Fletcher, Daniela S. Gerhard, David Goodstein, Tina Graves, Igor V. Grigoriev, Jane Grimwood, Takeshi Kawashima, Erika Lindquist, Susan M. Lucas, Paul E. Mead, Therese Mitros, Hajime Ogino, Yuko Ohta, Alexander V. Poliakov, Nicolas Pollet, Jacques Robert, Asaf Salamov, Amy K. Sater, Jeremy Schmutz, Astrid Terry, Peter D. Vize, Wesley C. Warren, Dan Wells, Andrea Wills, Richard K. Wilson, Lyle B. Zimmerman, Aaron M. Zorn, Robert Grainger, Timothy Grammer, Mustafa K. Khokha, Paul M. Richardson, and Daniel S. Rokhsar. 2010. "The Genome of the Western Tropicalis." 328(5978):633-36. Clawed Frog Xenopus Science doi: 10.1126/science.1183670.
- Hildebrandt, Friedhelm, Thomas Benzing, and Nicholas Katsanis. 2011.
 "Ciliopathies." New England Journal of Medicine 364(16):1533–43. doi: 10.1056/nejmra1010172.
- Horani, Amjad, Thomas W. Ferkol, Susan K. Dutcher, and Steven L. Brody. 2016. "Genetics and Biology of Primary Ciliary Dyskinesia." *Paediatric Respiratory Reviews* 18:18–24.
- Howe, Kerstin, Matthew D. Clark, Carlos F. Torroja, James Torrance, Camille Berthelot, Matthieu Muffato, John E. Collins, Sean Humphray, Karen McLaren, Lucy Matthews, Stuart McLaren, Ian Sealy, Mario Caccamo, Carol Churcher, Carol Scott, Jeffrey C. Barrett, Romke Koch, Gerd Jörg Rauch, Simon White, William Chow, Britt Kilian, Leonor T. Quintais, José A. Guerra-Assunção, Yi Zhou, Yong Gu, Jennifer Yen, Jan Hinnerk Vogel, Tina Eyre, Seth Redmond, Ruby Banerjee, Jianxiang Chi, Beiyuan Fu, Elizabeth Langley, Sean F. Maguire, Gavin K. Laird, David Lloyd, Emma Kenyon, Sarah Donaldson, Harminder Sehra, Jeff Almeida-King, Jane Loveland, Stephen Trevanion, Matt Jones, Mike

Quail, Dave Willey, Adrienne Hunt, John Burton, Sarah Sims, Kirsten McLay, Bob Plumb, Joy Davis, Chris Clee, Karen Oliver, Richard Clark, Clare Riddle, David Eliott, Glen Threadgold, Glenn Harden, Darren Ware, Beverly Mortimer, Giselle Kerry, Paul Heath, Benjamin Phillimore, Alan Tracey, Nicole Corby, Matthew Dunn, Christopher Johnson, Jonathan Wood, Susan Clark, Sarah Pelan, Guy Griffiths, Michelle Smith, Rebecca Glithero, Philip Howden, Nicholas Barker, Christopher Stevens, Joanna Harley, Karen Holt, Georgios Panagiotidis, Jamieson Lovell, Helen Beasley, Carl Henderson, Daria Gordon, Katherine Auger, Deborah Wright, Joanna Collins, Claire Raisen, Lauren Dyer, Kenric Leung, Lauren Robertson, Kirsty Ambridge, Daniel Leongamornlert, Sarah McGuire, Ruth Gilderthorp, Coline Griffiths, Deepa Manthravadi, Sarah Nichol, Gary Barker, Siobhan Whitehead, Michael Kay, Jacqueline Brown, Clare Murnane, Emma Gray, Matthew Humphries, Neil Sycamore, Darren Barker, David Saunders, Justene Wallis, Anne Babbage, Sian Hammond, Maryam Mashreghi-Mohammadi, Lucy Barr, Sancha Martin, Paul Wray, Andrew Ellington, Nicholas Matthews, Matthew Ellwood, Rebecca Woodmansey, Graham Clark, James Cooper, Anthony Tromans, Darren Grafham, Carl Skuce, Richard Pandian, Robert Andrews, Elliot Harrison, Andrew Kimberley, Jane Garnett, Nigel Fosker, Rebekah Hall, Patrick Garner, Daniel Kelly, Christine Bird, Sophie Palmer, Ines Gehring, Andrea Berger, Christopher M. Dooley, Zübeyde Ersan-Ürün, Cigdem Eser, Horst Geiger, Maria Geisler, Lena Karotki, Anette Kirn, Judith Konantz, Martina Konantz, Martina Oberländer, Silke Rudolph-Geiger, Mathias Teucke, Kazutoyo Osoegawa, Baoli Zhu, Amanda Rapp, Sara Widaa, Cordelia Langford, Fengtang Yang, Nigel P. Carter, Jennifer Harrow, Zemin Ning, Javier Herrero, Steve M. J. Searle, Anton Enright, Robert Geisler, Ronald H. A. Plasterk, Charles Lee, Monte Westerfield, Pieter J. De Jong, Leonard I. Zon, John H. Postlethwait, Christiane Nüsslein-Volhard, Tim J. P. Hubbard, Hugues Roest Crollius, Jane Rogers, and Derek L. Stemple. 2013. "The Zebrafish Reference Genome Sequence and Its Relationship to the Human Genome." Nature 496(7446):498-503. doi: 10.1038/nature12111.

Hsiao, Yi Chun, Zachary J. Tong, Jennifer E. Westfall, Jeffrey G. Ault, Patrick S. Page-McCaw, and Russell J. Ferland. 2009. "Ahi1, Whose Human Ortholog Is

Mutated in Joubert Syndrome, Is Required for Rab8a Localization, Ciliogenesis and Vesicle Trafficking." *Human Molecular Genetics* 18(20):3926–41. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddp335.

- Hua, Kiet, and Russell J. Ferland. 2018. "Primary Cilia Proteins: Ciliary and Extraciliary Sites and Functions." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 75(9):1521–40.
- Huang, Brendan K., and Michael A. Choma. 2015. "Microscale Imaging of Cilia-Driven Fluid Flow." *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* 72(6):1095–1113. doi: 10.1007/s00018-014-1784-z.
- Hye, Joo Kim, H. J. Lee, Hyojin Kim, S. W. Cho, and Jin Soo Kim. 2009. "Targeted Genome Editing in Human Cells with Zinc Finger Nucleases Constructed via Modular Assembly." *Genome Research* 19(7):1279–88. doi: 10.1101/gr.089417.108.
- Inglis, Peter, Guangshuo Ou, Michel R. Leroux, and Jonathan M. Scholey. 2007. "The Sensory Cilia of Caenorhabditis Elegans." *Wormbook*.
- Jaijo, T., E. Aller, M. Beneyto, C. Najera, C. Graziano, D. Turchetti, M. Seri, C. Ayuso, M. Baiget, F. Moreno, C. Morera, H. Perez-Garrigues, and J. M. Millan. 2007. "MYO7A Mutation Screening in Usher Syndrome Type I Patients from Diverse Origins." *Journal of Medical Genetics* 44(3):e71. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2006.045377.
- Jiang, Xiaoyan, Zaher Hanna, Mohammadi Kaouass, Luc Girard, and Paul Jolicoeur. 2002. "Ahi-1, a Novel Gene Encoding a Modular Protein with WD40-Repeat and SH3 Domains, Is Targeted by the Ahi-1 and Mis-2 Provirus Integrations." *Journal of Virology* 76(18):9046–59. doi: 10.1128/jvi.76.18.9046-9059.2002.
- Jinek, Martin, Krzysztof Chylinski, Ines Fonfara, Michael Hauer, Jennifer A. Doudna, and Emmanuelle Charpentier. 2012. "A Programmable Dual-RNA-Guided DNA Endonuclease in Adaptive Bacterial Immunity." *Science* 337(6096):816–21. doi: 10.1126/science.1225829.
- Jinek, Martin, Alexandra East, Aaron Cheng, Steven Lin, Enbo Ma, and Jennifer Doudna. 2013. "RNA-Programmed Genome Editing in Human Cells." *ELife* 2013(2). doi: 10.7554/eLife.00471.
- Kaletta, Titus, and Michael O. Hengartner. 2006. "Finding Function in Novel Targets:

C. Elegans as a Model Organism." *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* 5(5):387–99.

- Karimi, Kamran, Joshua D. Fortriede, Vaneet S. Lotay, Kevin A. Burns, Dong Zhou Wang, Malcom E. Fisher, Troy J. Pells, Christina James-Zorn, Ying Wang, V. G. Ponferrada, Stanley Chu, Praneet Chaturvedi, Aaron M. Zorn, and Peter D. Vize. 2018. "Xenbase: A Genomic, Epigenomic and Transcriptomic Model Organism Database." *Nucleic Acids Research* 46(D1):D861–68. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx936.
- Kim, Jin Soo. 2016. "Genome Editing Comes of Age." *Nature Protocols* 11(9):1573–78.
- Kim, Yang Gyun, Jooyeun Cha, and Srinivasan Chandrasegaran. 1996. "Hybrid Restriction Enzymes: Zinc Finger Fusions to Fok I Cleavage Domain." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 93(3):1156–60. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.3.1156.
- Klena, Nikolai T., Brian C. Gibbs, and Cecilia W. Lo. 2017. "Cilia and Ciliopathies in Congenital Heart Disease." *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology* 9(8). doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028266.
- Kovalevskij, Aleksandr Onufrievič. 1867. *Entwicklungsgeschichte Des Amphioxus Lanceolatus*. Vol. 11. VII. St. Pétersbourg : Académie Impériale des sciences.
- Lai, Yandong, and Yu Jiang. 2020. "Reciprocal Regulation between Primary Cilia and Mtorc1." *Genes* 11(6):1–15.
- Lambacher, Nils J., Ange Line Bruel, Teunis J. P. Van Dam, Katarzyna Szymaska, Gisela G. Slaats, Stefanie Kuhns, Gavin J. McManus, Julie E. Kennedy, Karl Gaff, Ka Man Wu, Robin Van Der Lee, Lydie Burglen, Diane Doummar, Jean Baptiste Rivière, Laurence Faivre, Tania Attié-Bitach, Sophie Saunier, Alistair Curd, Michelle Peckham, Rachel H. Giles, Colin A. Johnson, Martijn A. Huynen, Christel Thauvin-Robinet, and Oliver E. Blacque. 2016. "TMEM107 Recruits Ciliopathy Proteins to Subdomains of the Ciliary Transition Zone and Causes Joubert Syndrome." *Nature Cell Biology* 18(1):122–31. doi: 10.1038/ncb3273.
- Lancaster, Madeline A., Carrie M. Louie, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Louis Sintasath, Marvalyn Decambre, Sanjay K. Nigam, Karl Willert, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2009. "Impaired Wnt-B-Catenin Signaling Disrupts Adult Renal Homeostasis and Leads to Cystic Kidney Ciliopathy." *Nature Medicine* 15(9):1046–54. doi: 10.1038/nm.2010.

- Lee, Jeong Ho, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2010. "The Role of Primary Cilia in Neuronal Function." *Neurobiology of Disease* 38(2):167–72.
- Lee, Jeong Ho, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Ji Eun Lee, Lihadh Al-Gazali, Sophie Thomas, Erica E. Davis, Stephanie L. Bielas, Kiley J. Hill, Miriam Iannicelli, Francesco Brancati, Stacey B. Gabriel, Carsten Russ, Clare V. Logan, Saghira Malik Sharif, Christopher P. Bennett, Masumi Abe, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Bill H. Diplas, Tania Attié-Bitach, Nicholas Katsanis, Anna Rajab, Roshan Koul, Laszlo Sztriha, Elizabeth R. Waters, Susan Ferro-Novick, C. Geoffrey Woods, Colin A. Johnson, Enza Maria Valente, Maha S. Zaki, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2012. "Evolutionarily Assembled Cis-Regulatory Module at a Human Ciliopathy Locus." *Science* 335(6071):966–69. doi: 10.1126/science.1213506.
- Lee, Ji Eun, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Maha S. Zaki, Jana Schroth, Stephanie L. Bielas, Sarah E. Marsh, Jesus Olvera, Francesco Brancati, Miriam Iannicelli, Koji Ikegami, Andrew M. Schlossman, Barry Merriman, Tania Attié-Bitach, Clare V. Logan, Ian A. Glass, Andrew Cluckey, Carrie M. Louie, Jeong Ho Lee, Hilary R. Raynes, Isabelle Rapin, Ignacio P. Castroviejo, Mitsutoshi Setou, Clara Barbot, Eugen Boltshauser, Stanley F. Nelson, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Colin A. Johnson, Daniel A. Doherty, Enza Maria Valente, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2012. "CEP41 Is Mutated in Joubert Syndrome and Is Required for Tubulin Glutamylation at the Cilium." *Nature Genetics* 44(2):193–99. doi: 10.1038/ng.1078.
- Leitch, Carmen C., Norann A. Zaghloul, Erica E. Davis, Corinne Stoetzel, Anna Diaz-Font, Suzanne Rix, Majid Al-Fadhel, Richard Alan Lewis, Wafaa Eyaid, Eyal Banin, Helene Dollfus, Philip L. Beales, Jose L. Badano, and Nicholas Katsanis. 2008. "Hypomorphic Mutations in Syndromic Encephalocele Genes Are Associated with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome." *Nature Genetics* 40(4):443–48. doi: 10.1038/ng.97.
- Lloyd, Alan, Christopher L. Plaisier, Dana Carroll, and Gary N. Drews. 2005. "Targeted Mutagenesis Using Zinc-Finger Nucleases in Arabidopsis." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(6):2232–37. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0409339102.
- Lodh, Sukanya, Elizabeth A. O'Hare, and Norann A. Zaghloul. 2014. "Primary Cilia in Pancreatic Development and Disease." *Birth Defects Research Part C* -

Embryo Today: Reviews 102(2):139-58. doi: 10.1002/bdrc.21063.

- Lopes, Susana S., Raquel Lourenço, Luís Pacheco, Nuno Moreno, Jill Kreiling, and Leonor Saúde. 2010. "Notch Signalling Regulates Left-Right Asymmetry through Ciliary Length Control." *Development* 137(21):3625–32. doi: 10.1242/dev.054452.
- Loviglio, Maria Nicla, Christine R. Beck, Janson J. White, Marion Leleu, Tamar Harel, Nicolas Guex, Anne Niknejad, Weimin Bi, Edward S. Chen, Isaac Crespo, Jiong Yan, Wu Lin Charng, Shen Gu, Ping Fang, Zeynep Coban-Akdemir, Chad A. Shaw, Shalini N. Jhangiani, Donna M. Muzny, Richard A. Gibbs, Jacques Rougemont, Ioannis Xenarios, James R. Lupski, and Alexandre Reymond. 2016. "Identification of a RAI1-Associated Disease Network through Integration of Exome Sequencing, Transcriptomics, and 3D Genomics." *Genome Medicine* 8(1). doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0359-z.
- Lyons, R. A., E. Saridogan, and O. Djahanbakhch. 2006. "The Reproductive Significance of Human Fallopian Tube Cilia." *Human Reproduction Update* 12(4):363–72.
- Ma, Alvin Chun Hang, Christopher Chun Yu Mak, Kit San Yeung, Steven Lim Cho Pei, Dingge Ying, Mullin Ho Chung Yu, Kazi Md Mahmudul Hasan, Xiangke Chen, Pak Cheong Chow, Yiu Fai Cheung, and Brian Hon Yin Chung. 2020.
 "Monoallelic Mutations in CC2D1A Suggest a Novel Role in Human Heterotaxy and Ciliary Dysfunction." *Circulation: Genomic and Precision Medicine* 13(6):696–706. doi: 10.1161/CIRCGEN.120.003000.
- Ma, Dongyuan, and Feng Liu. 2015. "Genome Editing and Its Applications in Model Organisms." *Genomics, Proteomics and Bioinformatics* 13(6):336–44.
- Makarova, Kira S., Daniel H. Haft, Rodolphe Barrangou, Stan J. J. Brouns, Emmanuelle Charpentier, Philippe Horvath, Sylvain Moineau, Francisco J. M. Mojica, Yuri I. Wolf, Alexander F. Yakunin, John Van Der Oost, and Eugene V. Koonin. 2011. "Evolution and Classification of the CRISPR-Cas Systems." *Nature Reviews Microbiology* 9(6):467–77.
- Makarova, Kira S., and Eugene V. Koonin. 2015. "Annotation and Classification of CRISPR-Cas Systems." *Methods in Molecular Biology* 1311:47–75. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-2687-9_4.

- Mali, Prashant, Luhan Yang, Kevin M. Esvelt, John Aach, Marc Guell, James E. DiCarlo, Julie E. Norville, and George M. Church. 2013. "RNA-Guided Human Genome Engineering via Cas9." *Science* 339(6121):823–26. doi: 10.1126/science.1232033.
- Malicki, Jarema, Andrei Avanesov, Jade Li, Shiaulou Yuan, and Zhaoxia Sun. 2011. Analysis of Cilia Structure and Function in Zebrafish. Vol. 101. Academic Press.
- Manara, Elena, Stefano Paolacci, Fabiana D'esposito, Andi Abeshi, Lucia Ziccardi, Benedetto Falsini, Leonardo Colombo, Giancarlo Iarossi, Alba Pilotta, Loredana Boccone, Giulia Guerri, Marica Monica, Balzarini Marta, Paolo Enrico Maltese, Luca Buzzonetti, Luca Rossetti, and Matteo Bertelli. 2019. "Mutation Profile of BBS Genes in Patients with Bardet-Biedl Syndrome: An Italian Study." *Italian Journal of Pediatrics* 45(1):1–8. doi: 10.1186/s13052-019-0659-1.
- Marshall, Wallace F., and Christopher Kintner. 2008. "Cilia Orientation and the Fluid Mechanics of Development." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 20(1):48–52.
- Masyuk, Anatoliy I., Tatyana V. Masyuk, and Nicholas F. LaRusso. 2008. "Cholangiocyte Primary Cilia in Liver Health and Disease." *Developmental Dynamics* 237(8):2007–12.
- Mello, C. C., J. M. Kramer, D. Stinchcomb, and V. Ambros. 1991. "Efficient Gene Transfer in C.Elegans: Extrachromosomal Maintenance and Integration of Transforming Sequences." *EMBO Journal* 10(12):3959–70. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1991.tb04966.x.
- Miller, Jeffrey C., Siyuan Tan, Guijuan Qiao, Kyle A. Barlow, Jianbin Wang, Danny F. Xia, Xiangdong Meng, David E. Paschon, Elo Leung, Sarah J. Hinkley, Gladys P. Dulay, Kevin L. Hua, Irina Ankoudinova, Gregory J. Cost, Fyodor D. Urnov, H. Steve Zhang, Michael C. Holmes, Lei Zhang, Philip D. Gregory, and Edward J. Rebar. 2011. "A TALE Nuclease Architecture for Efficient Genome Editing." *Nature Biotechnology* 29(2):143–50. doi: 10.1038/nbt.1755.
- Mitchell, Brian, Richard Jacobs, Julie Li, Shu Chien, and Chris Kintner. 2007. "A Positive Feedback Mechanism Governs the Polarity and Motion of Motile Cilia." *Nature* 447(7140):97–101. doi: 10.1038/nature05771.
- Mitchison, Hannah M., and Enza Maria Valente. 2017. "Motile and Non-Motile Cilia in Human Pathology: From Function to Phenotypes." *The Journal of Pathology*

241(2):294-309. doi: 10.1002/path.4843.

- Morton, Jason, M. Wayne Davis, Erik M. Jorgensen, and Dana Carroll. 2006. "Induction and Repair of Zinc-Finger Nuclease-Targeted Double-Strand Breaks in Caenorhabditis Elegans Somatic Cells." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 103(44):16370–75. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0605633103.
- Moscou, Matthew J., and Adam J. Bogdanove. 2009. "A Simple Cipher Governs DNA Recognition by TAL Effectors." *Science* 326(5959):1501. doi: 10.1126/science.1178817.
- Mukhopadhyay, Saikat, Yun Lu, Shai Shaham, and Piali Sengupta. 2008. "Sensory Signaling-Dependent Remodeling of Olfactory Cilia Architecture in C. Elegans." *Developmental Cell* 14(5):762–74. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2008.03.002.
- Muller, O. F. 1786. "Animalcula Infusoria; Fluvia Tilia et Marina, Que Detexit, Systematice Descripsit et Ad Vivum Delineari Curavit." *Typis N. Molleri, Havniae*.
- Nachury, Maxence V., Alexander V. Loktev, Qihong Zhang, Christopher J. Westlake, Johan Peränen, Andreas Merdes, Diane C. Slusarski, Richard H. Scheller, J. Fernando Bazan, Val C. Sheffield, and Peter K. Jackson. 2007. "A Core Complex of BBS Proteins Cooperates with the GTPase Rab8 to Promote Ciliary Membrane Biogenesis." *Cell* 129(6):1201–13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.03.053.
- Nakamura, Akito, Hiroyuki Arai, and Naoya Fujita. 2009. "Centrosomal Aki1 and Cohesin Function in Separase-Regulated Centriole Disengagement." *Journal of Cell Biology* 187(5):607–14. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200906019.
- Nakamura, Akito, Mikihiko Naito, Takashi Tsuruo, and Naoya Fujita. 2008. "Freud-1/Aki1, a Novel PDK1-Interacting Protein, Functions as a Scaffold To Activate the PDK1/Akt Pathway in Epidermal Growth Factor Signaling." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 28(19):5996–6009. doi: 10.1128/mcb.00114-08.
- Nechipurenko, Inna V., and Piali Sengupta. 2017. "The Rise and Fall of Basal Bodies in the Nematode Caenorhabditis Elegans." *Cilia* 6(1):9.
- Noor, Abdul, Christian Windpassinger, Megha Patel, Beata Stachowiak, Anna Mikhailov, Matloob Azam, Muhammad Irfan, Zahid Kamal Siddiqui, Farooq Naeem, Andrew D. Paterson, Muhammad Lutfullah, John B. Vincent, and

Muhammad Ayub. 2008. "CC2D2A, Encoding A Coiled-Coil and C2 Domain Protein, Causes Autosomal-Recessive Mental Retardation with Retinitis Pigmentosa." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 82(4):1011–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2008.01.021.

- Otto, E. A., K. Tory, M. Attanasio, W. Zhou, M. Chaki, Y. Paruchuri, E. L. Wise, M. T. F. Wolf, B. Utsch, C. Becker, G. Nürnberg, P. Nürnberg, A. Nayir, S. Saunier, C. Antignac, and F. Hildebrandt. 2009. "Hypomorphic Mutations in Meckelin (MKS3/TMEM67) Cause Nephronophthisis with Liver Fibrosis (NPHP11)." *Journal of Medical Genetics* 46(10):663–70. doi: 10.1136/jmg.2009.066613.
- Ou, Guangshuo, Oliver E. Blacque, Joshua J. Snow, Michel R. Leroux, and Jonathan M. Scholey. 2005. "Functional Coordination of Intraflagellar Transport Motors." *Nature* 436(7050):583–87. doi: 10.1038/nature03818.
- Ou, Xiao Ming, Sylvie Lemonde, Hamed Jafar-Nejad, Christopher D. Bown, Aya Goto, Anastasia Rogaeva, and Paul R. Albert. 2003. "Freud-1: A Neuronal Calcium-Regulated Repressor of the 5-HT1A Receptor Gene." *Journal of Neuroscience* 23(19):7415–25. doi: 10.1523/jneurosci.23-19-07415.2003.
- Parisi, Melissa A., Craig L. Bennett, Melissa L. Eckert, William B. Dobyns, Joseph G. Gleeson, Dennis W. W. Shaw, Ruth McDonald, Allison Eddy, Phillip F. Chance, and Ian A. Glass. 2004. "The NPHP1 Gene Deletion Associated with Juvenile Nephronophthisis Is Present in a Subset of Individuals with Joubert Syndrome." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 75(1):82–91. doi: 10.1086/421846.
- Parisi, Melissa, and Ian Glass. 2017. "Joubert Syndrome GeneReviews® NCBI Bookshelf." GeneReviews®. Retrieved May 31, 2021 (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1325/).
- Parmeggiani, Francesco, Francesco S. Sorrentino, Diego Ponzin, Vanessa Barbaro, Stefano Ferrari, and Enzo Di Iorio. 2011. "Retinitis Pigmentosa: Genes and Disease Mechanisms." *Current Genomics* 12(4):238–49. doi: 10.2174/138920211795860107.
- Pattanayak, Vikram, Steven Lin, John P. Guilinger, Enbo Ma, Jennifer A. Doudna, and David R. Liu. 2013. "High-Throughput Profiling of off-Target DNA Cleavage Reveals RNA-Programmed Cas9 Nuclease Specificity." *Nature Biotechnology* 31(9):839–43. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2673.

- Pazour, Gregory J., and George B. Witman. 2003. "The Vertebrate Primary Cilium Is a Sensory Organelle." *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 15(1):105–10.
- Pedersen, Lotte B., and Joel L. Rosenbaum. 2008. "Chapter Two Intraflagellar Transport (IFT). Role in Ciliary Assembly, Resorption and Signalling." *Current Topics in Developmental Biology* 85:23–61.
- Pozniak, Christine D., and Samuel J. Pleasure. 2006. "A Tale of Two Signals: Wnt and Hedgehog in Dentate Neurogenesis." *Science's STKE: Signal Transduction Knowledge Environment* 2006(319).
- Purkyne, Jan Evangelinista, and G. Valentin. 1835. De Phaenomeno Generali Et Fundamentali Motus Vibratorii Continui in Membranis Cum Externis Tum Internis Animalium Plurimorum Et Superiorum Et Inferiorum Ordinum Obvii . edited by A Schultz. Wratislavia.
- Reiter, Jeremy F., and Michel R. Leroux. 2017. "Genes and Molecular Pathways Underpinning Ciliopathies." *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* 18(9):533– 47.
- Reversade, Bruno, Nathalie Escande-Beillard, Aikaterini Dimopoulou, Björn Fischer, Serene C. Chng, Yun Li, Mohammad Shboul, Puay Yoke Tham, Hülya Kayserili, Lihadh Al-Gazali, Monzer Shahwan, Francesco Brancati, Hane Lee, Brian D. O'Connor, Mareen Schmidt Von Kegler, Barry Merriman, Stanley F. Nelson, Amira Masri, Fawaz Alkazaleh, Deanna Guerra, Paola Ferrari, Arti Nanda, Anna Rajab, David Markie, Mary Gray, John Nelson, Arthur Grix, Annemarie Sommer, Ravi Savarirayan, Andreas R. Janecke, Elisabeth Steichen, David Sillence, Ingrid Haußer, Birgit Budde, Gudrun Nürnberg, Peter Nürnberg, Petra Seemann, Désirée Kunkel, Giovanna Zambruno, Bruno Dallapiccola, Markus Schuelke, Stephen Robertson, Hanan Hamamy, Bernd Wollnik, Lionel Van Maldergem, Stefan Mundlos, and Uwe Kornak. 2009. "Mutations in PYCR1 Cause Cutis Laxa with Progeroid Features." *Nature Genetics* 41(9):1016–21. doi: 10.1038/ng.413.
- Romani, Marta, Alessia Micalizzi, Ichraf Kraoua, Maria Teresa Dotti, Mara Cavallin, László Sztriha, Rosario Ruta, Francesca Mancini, Tommaso Mazza, Stefano Castellana, Benrhouma Hanene, Maria Alessandra Carluccio, Francesca Darra, Adrienn Máté, Alíz Zimmermann, Neziha Gouider-Khouja, and Enza Maria

Valente. 2014. "Mutations in B9D1 and MKS1 Cause Mild Joubert Syndrome: Expanding the Genetic Overlap with the Lethal Ciliopathy Meckel Syndrome." *Orphanet Journal of Rare Diseases* 9(1). doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-9-72.

- Romani, Marta, Alessia Micalizzi, and Enza Maria Valente. 2013. "Joubert Syndrome: Congenital Cerebellar Ataxia with the Molar Tooth." *The Lancet Neurology* 12(9):894–905.
- Rouet, P., F. Smih, and M. Jasin. 1994. "Introduction of Double-Strand Breaks into the Genome of Mouse Cells by Expression of a Rare-Cutting Endonuclease." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 14(12):8096–8106. doi: 10.1128/mcb.14.12.8096.
- Rudin, N., and J. E. Haber. 1988. "Efficient Repair of HO-Induced Chromosomal Breaks in Saccharomyces Cerevisiae by Recombination between Flanking Homologous Sequences." *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 8(9):3918–28. doi: 10.1128/mcb.8.9.3918.
- Sanders, Anna A. W. M., Erik de Vrieze, Anas M. Alazami, Fatema Alzahrani, Erik
 B. Malarkey, Nasrin Sorusch, Lars Tebbe, Stefanie Kuhns, Teunis J. P. van Dam,
 Amal Alhashem, Brahim Tabarki, Qianhao Lu, Nils J. Lambacher, Julie E.
 Kennedy, Rachel V. Bowie, Lisette Hetterschijt, Sylvia van Beersum, Jeroen van
 Reeuwijk, Karsten Boldt, Hannie Kremer, Robert A. Kesterson, Dorota Monies,
 Mohamed Abouelhoda, Ronald Roepman, Martijn H. Huynen, Marius Ueffing,
 Rob B. Russell, Uwe Wolfrum, Bradley K. Yoder, Erwin van Wijk, Fowzan S.
 Alkuraya, and Oliver E. Blacque. 2015. "KIAA0556 Is a Novel Ciliary Basal
 Body Component Mutated in Joubert Syndrome." *Genome Biology* 16(1). doi: 10.1186/s13059-015-0858-z.
- Sang, Liyun, Julie J. Miller, Kevin C. Corbit, Rachel H. Giles, Matthew J. Brauer, Edgar A. Otto, Lisa M. Baye, Xiaohui Wen, Suzie J. Scales, Mandy Kwong, Erik G. Huntzicker, Mindan K. Sfakianos, Wendy Sandoval, J. Fernando Bazan, Priya Kulkarni, Francesc R. Garcia-Gonzalo, Allen D. Seol, John F. O'Toole, Susanne Held, Heiko M. Reutter, William S. Lane, Muhammad Arshad Rafiq, Abdul Noor, Muhammad Ansar, Akella Radha Rama Devi, Val C. Sheffield, Diane C. Slusarski, John B. Vincent, Daniel A. Doherty, Friedhelm Hildebrandt, Jeremy F. Reiter, and Peter K. Jackson. 2011. "Mapping the NPHP-JBTS-MKS Protein

Network Reveals Ciliopathy Disease Genes and Pathways." *Cell* 145(4):513–28. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.04.019.

- Satir, Peter. 1995. "Landmarks in Cilia Research from Leeuwenhoek to US." *Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton* 32(2):90–94. doi: 10.1002/cm.970320203.
- Satir, Peter, and Søren Tvorup Christensen. 2007. "Overview of Structure and Function of Mammalian Cilia." *Annual Review of Physiology* 69:377–400.
- Schindelin, Johannes, Ignacio Arganda-Carreras, Erwin Frise, Verena Kaynig, Mark Longair, Tobias Pietzsch, Stephan Preibisch, Curtis Rueden, Stephan Saalfeld, Benjamin Schmid, Jean Yves Tinevez, Daniel James White, Volker Hartenstein, Kevin Eliceiri, Pavel Tomancak, and Albert Cardona. 2012. "Fiji: An Open-Source Platform for Biological-Image Analysis." *Nature Methods* 9(7):676–82.
- Schweickert, Axel, Thomas Weber, Tina Beyer, Philipp Vick, Susanne Bogusch, Kerstin Feistel, and Martin Blum. 2007. "Cilia-Driven Leftward Flow Determines Laterality in Xenopus." *Current Biology* 17(1):60–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2006.10.067.
- Shaye, Daniel D., and Iva Greenwald. 2011. "Ortholist: A Compendium of C. Elegans Genes with Human Orthologs." *PLoS ONE* 6(5):e20085. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0020085.
- Shi, Zhang Yan, Ya Jing Li, Ke Jin Zhang, Xiao Cai Gao, Zi Jian Zheng, Ning Han, and Fu Chang Zhang. 2012. "Positive Association of CC2D1A and CC2D2A Gene Haplotypes with Mental Retardation in a Han Chinese Population." DNA and Cell Biology 31(1):80–87. doi: 10.1089/dna.2011.1253.
- Srour, Myriam, Fadi F. Hamdan, Dianalee McKnight, Erica Davis, Hanna Mandel, Jeremy Schwartzentruber, Brissa Martin, Lysanne Patry, Christina Nassif, Alexandre Dionne-Laporte, Luis H. Ospina, Emmanuelle Lemyre, Christine Massicotte, Rachel Laframboise, Bruno Maranda, Damian Labuda, Jean Claude Décarie, Françoise Rypens, Dorith Goldsher, Catherine Fallet-Bianco, Jean François Soucy, Anne Marie Laberge, Catalina Maftei, Kym Boycott, Bernard Brais, Renée Myriam Boucher, Guy A. Rouleau, Nicholas Katsanis, Jacek Majewski, Orly Elpeleg, Mary K. Kukolich, Stavit Shalev, and Jacques L. Michaud. 2015. "Joubert Syndrome in French Canadians and Identification of Mutations in CEP104." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 97(5):744–53. doi:

10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.09.009.

- Srour, Myriam, Jeremy Schwartzentruber, Fadi F. Hamdan, Luis H. Ospina, Lysanne Patry, Damian Labuda, Christine Massicotte, Sylvia Dobrzeniecka, José Mario Capo-Chichi, Simon Papillon-Cavanagh, Mark E. Samuels, Kym M. Boycott, Michael I. Shevell, Rachel Laframboise, Valérie Désilets, Bruno Maranda, Guy A. Rouleau, Jacek Majewski, and Jacques L. Michaud. 2012. "Mutations in C5ORF42 Cause Joubert Syndrome in the French Canadian Population." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 90(4):693–700. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.02.011.
- Sun, Zhaoxia, Adam Amsterdam, Gregory J. Pazour, Douglas G. Cole, Mark S. Miller, and Nancy Hopkins. 2004. "A Genetic Screen in Zebrafish Indentifies Cilia Genes as a Principal Cause of Cystic Kidney." *Development* 131(16):4085–93. doi: 10.1242/dev.01240.
- Tazetdinov, A. M., L. U. Dzehemileva, and E. K. Khusnutdinova. 2008. "Molecular Genetics of Usher Syndrome." *Russian Journal of Genetics* 44(6):627–34.
- Terns, Michael P., and Rebecca M. Terns. 2011. "CRISPR-Based Adaptive Immune Systems." *Current Opinion in Microbiology* 14(3):321–27.
- Thomas, Sophie, Marine Legendre, Sophie Saunier, Bettina Bessières, Caroline Alby, Maryse Bonnière, Annick Toutain, Laurence Loeuillet, Katarzyna Szymanska, Frédérique Jossic, Dominique Gaillard, Mohamed Tahar Yacoubi, Soumaya Mougou-Zerelli, Albert David, Marie Anne Barthez, Yves Ville, Christine Bole-Feysot, Patrick Nitschke, Stanislas Lyonnet, Arnold Munnich, Colin A. Johnson, Férechté Encha-Razavi, Valérie Cormier-Daire, Christel Thauvin-Robinet, Michel Vekemans, and Tania Attié-Bitach. 2012. "TCTN3 Mutations Cause Mohr-Majewski Syndrome." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 91(2):372– 78. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.06.017.
- Towlson, Emma K., Petra E. Vértes, Sebastian E. Ahnert, William R. Schafer, and Edward T. Bullmore. 2013. "The Rich Club of the C. Elegans Neuronal Connectome." *Journal of Neuroscience* 33(15):6380–87. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3784-12.2013.
- Tuz, Karina, Ruxandra Bachmann-Gagescu, Diana R. O'Day, Kiet Hua, Christine R. Isabella, Ian G. Phelps, Allan E. Stolarski, Brian J. O'Roak, Jennifer C. Dempsey,

Charles Lourenco, Abdulrahman Alswaid, Carsten G. Bönnemann, Livija Medne, Sheela Nampoothiri, Zornitza Stark, Richard J. Leventer, Meral Topçu, Ali Cansu, Sujatha Jagadeesh, Stephen Done, Gisele E. Ishak, Ian A. Glass, Jay Shendure, Stephan C. F. Neuhauss, Chad R. Haldeman-Englert, Dan Doherty, and Russell J. Ferland. 2014. "Mutations in CSPP1 Cause Primary Cilia Abnormalities and Joubert Syndrome with or without Jeune Asphyxiating Thoracic Dystrophy." *American Journal of Human Genetics* 94(1):62–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.11.019.

- Valente, Enza Maria, Francesco Brancati, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Marco Castori, Sarah E. Marsh, Giuseppe Barrano, Enrico Bertini, Eugen Boltshauser, Maha S. Zaki, Alice Abdel-Aleem, Ghada M. H. Abdel-Salam, Emanuele Bellacchio, Roberta Battini, Robert P. Cruse, William B. Dobyns, Kalpathy S. Krishnamoorthy, Clotilde Lagier-Tourenne, Alex Magee, Ignacio Pascual-Castroviejo, Carmelo D. Salpietro, Dean Sarco, Bruno Dallapiccola, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2006. "AHI1 Gene Mutations Cause Specific Forms of Joubert Syndrome-Related Disorders." *Annals of Neurology* 59(3):527–34. doi: 10.1002/ana.20749.
- Valente, Enza Maria, Jennifer L. Silhavy, Francesco Brancati, Giuseppe Barrano, Suguna Rani Krishnaswami, Marco Castori, Madeline A. Lancaster, Eugen Boltshauser, Loredana Boccone, Lihadh Al-Gazali, Elisa Fazzi, Sabrina Signorini, Carrie M. Louie, Emanuele Bellacchio, Enrico Bertini, Bruno Dallapiccola, and Joseph G. Gleeson. 2006. "Mutations in CEP290, Which Encodes a Centrosomal Protein, Cause Pleiotropic Forms of Joubert Syndrome." *Nature Genetics* 38(6):623–25. doi: 10.1038/ng1805.
- Vick, Philipp, Axel Schweickert, Thomas Weber, Melanie Eberhardt, Stine Mencl, Denis Shcherbakov, Tina Beyer, and Martin Blum. 2009. "Flow on the Right Side of the Gastrocoel Roof Plate Is Dispensable for Symmetry Breakage in the Frog Xenopus Laevis." *Developmental Biology* 331(2):281–91. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2009.05.547.
- Vieira, Otilia V., Katharina Gaus, Paul Verkade, Joachim Fullekrug, Winchil L. C.
 Vaz, and Kai Simons. 2006. "FAPP2, Cilium Formation, and Compartmentalization of the Apical Membrane in Polarized Madin-Darby Canine Kidney (MDCK) Cells." *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America 103(49):18556–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0608291103.

- Vladar, Eszter K., Yin Loon Lee, Tim Stearns, and Jeffrey D. Axelrod. 2015.
 "Observing Planar Cell Polarity in Multiciliated Mouse Airway Epithelial Cells." *Methods in Cell Biology* 127:37–54. doi: 10.1016/bs.mcb.2015.01.016.
- Waters, Aoife M., and Philip L. Beales. 2011. "Ciliopathies: An Expanding Disease Spectrum." *Pediatric Nephrology* 26(7):1039–56.
- Van De Weghe, Julie C., Tamara D. S. Rusterholz, Brooke Latour, Megan E. Grout, Kimberly A. Aldinger, Ranad Shaheen, Jennifer C. Dempsey, Sateesh Maddirevula, Yong Han H. Cheng, Ian G. Phelps, Matthias Gesemann, Himanshu Goel, Ohad S. Birk, Talal Alanzi, Rifaat Rawashdeh, Arif O. Khan, Michael J. Bamshad, Deborah A. Nickerson, Stephan C. F. Neuhauss, William B. Dobyns, Fowzan S. Alkuraya, Ronald Roepman, Ruxandra Bachmann-Gagescu, and Dan Doherty. 2017. "Mutations in ARMC9, Which Encodes a Basal Body Protein, Cause Joubert Syndrome in Humans and Ciliopathy Phenotypes in Zebrafish." of 101(1):23-36. American Journal Human Genetics doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2017.05.010.
- Wheway, Gabrielle, Hannah M. Mitchison, J. C. Ambrose, E. L. Baple, M. Bleda, F. Boardman-Pretty, J. M. Boissiere, C. R. Boustred, M. J. Caulfield, G. C. Chan, C. E. H. Craig, L. C. Daugherty, A. de Burca, A. Devereau, G. Elgar, R. E. Foulger, T. Fowler, P. Furió-Tarí, J. M. Hackett, D. Halai, J. E. Holman, T. J. P. Hubbard, R. Jackson, D. Kasperaviciute, M. Kayikci, L. Lahnstein, K. Lawson, S. E. A. Leigh, I. U. S. Leong, F. J. Lopez, F. Maleady-Crowe, J. Mason, E. M. McDonagh, L. Moutsianas, M. Mueller, N. Murugaesu, A. C. Need, C. A. Odhams, C. Patch, D. Perez-Gil, D. Polychronopoulos, J. Pullinger, T. Rahim, A. Rendon, P. Riesgo-Ferreiro, T. Rogers, M. Ryten, K. Savage, K. Sawant, R. H. Scott, A. Siddiq, A. Sieghart, D. Smedley, K. R. Smith, A. Sosinsky, W. Spooner, H. E. Stevens, A. Stuckey, R. Sultana, E. R. A. Thomas, S. R. Thompson, C. Tregidgo, A. Tucci, E. Walsh, S. A. Watters, M. J. Welland, E. Williams, K. Witkowska, S. M. Wood, and M. Zarowiecki. 2019. "Opportunities and Challenges for Molecular Understanding of Ciliopathies–the 100,000 Genomes Project." *Frontiers in Genetics* 10(MAR):127.

- Wiedenheft, Blake, Samuel H. Sternberg, and Jennifer A. Doudna. 2012. "RNA-Guided Genetic Silencing Systems in Bacteria and Archaea." *Nature* 482(7385):331–38.
- Xu, Xingshun, Hao Yang, Yung Feng Lin, Xiang Li, Austin Cape, Kerry J. Ressler, Shihua Li, and Xiao Jiang Li. 2010. "Neuronal Abelson Helper Integration Site-1 (Ahi1) Deficiency in Mice Alters TrkB Signaling with a Depressive Phenotype." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(44):19126–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1013032107.
- Yan, Mei Yi, Si Shang Li, Xin Yuan Ding, Xiao Peng Guo, Qi Jin, and Yi Cheng Sun.
 2020. "A Crispr-Assisted Nonhomologous End-Joining Strategy for Efficient Genome Editing in Mycobacterium Tuberculosis." *MBio* 11(1). doi: 10.1128/mBio.02364-19.
- Yang, Cheng Yi, Ting Hsuan Yu, Wan Ling Wen, Pin Ling, and Kuei Sen Hsu. 2019.
 "Conditional Deletion of CC2D1A Reduces Hippocampal Synaptic Plasticity and Impairs Cognitive Function through RAC1 Hyperactivation." *Journal of Neuroscience* 39(25):4959–75. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2395-18.2019.
- Yip, Bon Ham. 2020. "Recent Advances in CRISPR/Cas9 Delivery Strategies." *Biomolecules* 10(6).
- Yoshiba, Satoko, Hidetaka Shiratori, Ivana Y. Kuo, Aiko Kawasumi, Kyosuke Shinohara, Shigenori Nonaka, Yasuko Asai, Genta Sasaki, Jose Antonio Belo, Hiroshi Sasaki, Junichi Nakai, Bernd Dworniczak, Barbara E. Ehrlich, Petra Pennekamp, and Hiroshi Hamada. 2012. "Cilia at the Node of Mouse Embryos Sense Fluid Flow for Left-Right Determination via Pkd2." *Science* 338(6104):226–31. doi: 10.1126/science.1222538.
- Zetsche, Bernd, Jonathan S. Gootenberg, Omar O. Abudayyeh, Ian M. Slaymaker, Kira S. Makarova, Patrick Essletzbichler, Sara E. Volz, Julia Joung, John Van Der Oost, Aviv Regev, Eugene V. Koonin, and Feng Zhang. 2015. "Cpf1 Is a Single RNA-Guided Endonuclease of a Class 2 CRISPR-Cas System." *Cell* 163(3):759–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.09.038.
- Zhang, Baohong. 2021. "CRISPR/Cas Gene Therapy." *Journal of Cellular Physiology* 236(4):2459–81.
- Zhao, Meng, Xiao Dong Li, and Zhijian Chen. 2010. "CC2D1A, a DM14 and C2

Domain Protein, Activates NF-KB through the Canonical Pathway." *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285(32):24372–80. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.100057.

- Zhao, Meng, Jesica Raingo, Zhijian James Chen, and Ege T. Kavalali. 2011. "Cc2d1a, a C2 Domain Containing Protein Linked to Nonsyndromic Mental Retardation, Controls Functional Maturation of Central Synapses." *Journal of Neurophysiology* 105(4):1506–15. doi: 10.1152/jn.00950.2010.
- Zimmermann, K. W. 1898. "Beiträge Zur Kenntniss Einiger Drüsen Und Epithelien." *Archiv Für Mikroskopische Anatomie* 52(3):552–706. doi: 10.1007/BF02975837.
ENCLOSURES

ENCLOSURE 1: CURRICULUM VITAE

1. PERSONAL INFORMATION

| NAME, SURNAME: Gulten Tuncel | | |
|---|----------------------------|--|
| DATE of BIRTH and PLACE: | 11.11.1991, Nicosia/Cyprus | |
| CURRENT OCCUPATION: Research Assistant, PhD Candidate/ Near East University | | |
| ADDRESS of CORRESPONDENCE: Near East University/DESAM Institute | | |
| TELEPHONE: | | |
| GSM 0533 875 45 00 | | |
| E-MAIL: gulten.tuncel@yahoo.com | | |

2. EDUCATION

| YEAR | GRADE | UNIVERSITY | DEPARTMENT |
|-----------|---------------|-----------------------------|-----------------|
| 2017-now | Postgraduate | Near East University | Medical |
| | | | Biology, |
| | | | Molecular |
| | | | Medicine |
| 2014-2016 | Masters | Middle East Technical | Biology, Cancer |
| | | University | Genetics |
| 2009-2013 | Undergraduate | University of Manchester | Genetics |
| 2009-2013 | High School | 19 Mayis Turk Maarif Koleji | - |

3. EXPERIENCE

| PERIOD | TITLE | DEPARTMENT | INSTITUTION |
|----------|--------------------|-----------------|----------------------|
| 2018-now | Research Assistant | DESAM Institute | Near East University |

4. FOREIGN LANGUAGES

| LANGUAGE | READING | SPEAKING | WRITING |
|----------|-----------|-----------|-----------|
| English | Excellent | Excellent | Excellent |

5. PUBLICATIONS

Peer-reviewed articles

Kashoura, Y., Serakinci, N., Beleva, N., Kaçamak, N. I., Tuncel, G., & Oz, U. (2021). "WNT signaling pathway genes expression profile in isolated hypodontia." Applied Nanoscience (Switzerland), 1, 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13204-021-01850

Tuncel G, Akcan N, Gul S, Sag SO, Bundak R, Mocan G, Temel SG, Ergoren MC. (2021) "Identification of a Novel De Novo COMP Gene Variant as a Likely Cause of Pseudoachondroplasia." Appl Immunohistochem Mol Morphol. https://doi.org/10.1097/PAI.0000000000000914. PMID: 33595934.

MC, Ergoren, Paolacci S, Manara E, Dautaj A, Dhuli K, Anpilogov K, Camilleri G, Suer HK, Sayan M, Tuncel G, Sultanoglu N, Farronato M, Tartaglia GM, Dundar M, Farronato G, Gunsel IS, Bertelli M, and Sanlidag T. (2020) "A pilot study on the preventative potential of alpha-cyclodextrin and hydroxytyrosol against SARS-CoV-2 transmission." Acta bio-medica : Atenei Parmensis 91 (13-S). https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v91i13-S.10817

Ergoren, M. C., Tuncel, G., Sag, S. O., & Temel, S. G. (2020) "A rare case of fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase deficiency: a delayed diagnosis story," Turkish Journal of Biochemistry, 45(5), 613-616. doi: https://doi.org/10.1515/tjb-2019-0473

Ergoren, M.C., E. Manara, S. Paolacci, H. Cobanogullari, G. Tuncel, M. Betmezoglu, M. Bertelli, and T. Sanlidag. (2020) "The Biennial report: The collaboration between MAGI Research, Diagnosis and Treatment Center of Genetic and Rare Diseases and Near East University DESAM Institute." The EuroBiotech Journal 4 (4). https://doi.org/10.2478/ebtj-2020-0020.

R, Emekli, İsmailoğullari S, Bayram A, Akalin H, Tuncel G, and Dündar M. (2020) Comparing expression levels of PERIOD genes PER1, PER2 and PER3 in chronic insomnia patients and medical staff working in the night shift. Sleep medicine 73. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.04.027.

E, Kandemis, Tuncel G, Asut O, Temel SG, and Ergoren MC. (2020) Strong Association between Serotonin Transporter 5-HTTVNTR Variant and Psychoactive Substance (Nicotine) Use in the Turkish Cypriot Population. Current drug metabolism. doi: 10.2174/1389200221666200620201348.

SG, Temel, Ergoren MC, Manara E, Paolacci S, Tuncel G, Gul S, and Bertelli M. (2020) Unique combination and in silico modeling of biallelic POLR3A variants as a cause of Wiedemann-Rautenstrauch syndrome. European journal of human genetics: EJHG. doi: 10.1038/s41431-020-0673-1.

Gelener, P., Tuncel, G., Manara, E., Paolacci, S., Tuzlali, H., Severino, M., Bertelli, M., Ergoren, M.C. (2020) *A Rare and An Unusual Presentation of Asymptomatic Glutaric Aciduria Type I In A 35-Year-Old Woman*. Neurogenetics 1-8. **Tuncel, G. and M.C. Ergoren (2019)** *Functional coding and non-coding variants in human BRCA1 gene and their use in genetic screening.* Med Oncol. 36(8): p. 71.

Tuncel, G., Temel S.G., and Ergoren M.C. (2019) *Strong association between VDR FokI (rs2228570) gene variant and serum vitamin D levels in Turkish Cypriots.* Mol Biol Rep, 46(3): p. 3349-3355.

Tuncel, G. and Kalkan, R. (2019) *Importance of m* N(6)*-methyladenosine (m(6)A) RNA modification in cancer.* Med Oncol. 36(4): p. 36.

Tuncel, G. and Kalkan, R. (2018) *Receptor Tyrosine Kinase-Ras-PI3 Kinase-Akt Signalling Network In Glioblastoma Multiforme*, Med Oncol. Aug 4;35(9): p. 122.

Book Chapters

"Precision Nutrition: Mediterranean Diet and Genetic Susceptibility" Chapter

Ergören, M.C. and Tuncel, G.

The Mediterranean Diet, 2nd Edition. Elsevier, 2019

ENCLOSURE 2: ETHICAL APPROVAL

NAER EAST UNIVERSITY

SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH ETHICS COMMITTEE

05.05.2021

Dear Assoc. Prof. Dr. Mahmut Cerkez Ergoren

Your application titled **"New Candidate Gene For Joubert Syndrome:** *CC2D1A*" with the application number NEU/2019/68-796 has been evaluated by the Scientific Research Ethics Committee and granted approval.

w Prof. Dr. Rüştü Onur

Near East University Scientific Research Ethics Committee Director

ENCLOSURE 3: TURNITIN REPORT

| PhD |) Thesis | | | | |
|--------|--|--|--|-----------------------------|--------|
| ORIGIN | ALITY REPORT | | | | |
| SIMILA | 4% ARITY INDEX | 9% INTERNET SOURCES | 11% PUBLICATIONS | <mark>%</mark> student f | PAPERS |
| PRIMAR | Y SOURCES | | | | |
| 1 | docs.neu | i.edu.tr | | | 1 % |
| 2 | docplaye | er.net | | | 1 % |
| 3 | www.nck | bi.nlm.nih.gov | | | 1 % |
| 4 | Martin B Underva Model H Organs, 2 Publication | lum, Tim Ott. "> lued Model Org uman Genetic I 2018 | Kenopus: An ganism to Stuc Disease", Cells | ly and Tissues | 1% |
| 5 | onlinelib | rary.wiley.com | | | 1 % |
| 6 | WWW.esp Internet Source | o.org | | | <1% |
| 7 | Ira.le.ac. | uk | | | <1% |
| 8 | "Abstract Human (| ts from the 53r Genetics (ESHG) | d European So Conference: | ociety of | <1% |

ENCLOSURE 4: COPY OF PUBLICATION DERIVED FROM THESIS